Western Michigan University ScholarWorks at WMU

Dissertations

Graduate College

6-2022

The Influence Of Demographic, Social, And Economic Factors On Referral For Heart Failure Services

Catherine Elaine Kelty Western Michigan University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations

Part of the Cardiovascular Diseases Commons, Cardiovascular System Commons, and the Social Justice Commons

Recommended Citation

Kelty, Catherine Elaine, "The Influence Of Demographic, Social, And Economic Factors On Referral For Heart Failure Services" (2022). *Dissertations*. 3859. https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/dissertations/3859

This Dissertation-Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate College at ScholarWorks at WMU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at WMU. For more information, please contact wmu-scholarworks@wmich.edu.





THE INFLUENCE OF DEMOGRAPHIC, SOCIAL, AND ECONOMIC FACTORS ON REFERRAL FOR HEART FAILURE SERVICES

Catherine Elaine Kelty, Ph.D.

Western Michigan University, 2022

Patients with end-stage advanced heart failure must go through an extensive evaluation process before being selected for either heart transplantation or left ventricular assist device (LVAD). This evaluation not only assesses a patient's medical need for advanced heart failure treatments but also includes an assessment of psychosocial and economic factors that may affect a patient's success post-treatment. While it is important to allocate scarce resources, such as donated organs, to the patients who will benefit the most, there is also a need for equity in the allocation of and access to healthcare services. This raises the question of whether patients who are diagnosed with heart failure ever have the opportunity to be evaluated for advanced heart failure services in the first place, due to gatekeeping events that may prevent patients from being referred to or have an appointment with a specialist.

The independent variables age, sex, marital status race/ethnicity, preferred language, smoking status, and insurance status were compared between patients referred and not referred, who had a clinic visit and did not have a clinic visit, and who received treatment and did not receive treatment. Patients who were younger (HR 0.934, 95% CI 0.925, 0.943), males (HR 2.216, 95% CI 1.544, 3.181), married (HR 0.665, 95% CI 0.488, 0.905), or non-smokers (HR 0.549, 95% CI 0.389, 0.776) were more likely to be referred to a specialist. Married patients (p=0.024) and nonsmokers (p=0.039) were more likely to have a clinic visit and younger age was

shown to contribute as well (HR 0.981, 95% CI 0.966, 0.995). Younger age (B coefficient = - 0.21; HR 0.980 [95% CI 0.961, 0.998]), White race (p=0.042), Hispanic/Latino ethnicity (B coefficient = 1.504; HR 4.501 [95% CI 1.574, 12.875]), and both public (B coefficient = -0.758; HR 0.468 [95% CI 0.270, 0.813]) and private insurance (p=0.027) were significantly influencing whether patients received a heart transplant. Hispanic ethnicity was also associated with receiving an LVAD (HR 33.833, 95% CI 3.207, 356.968). Advanced age, Hispanic ethnicity, and smoking were associated with one-year mortality after heart failure diagnosis.

This study confirmed that disparities in access exist before patients are ever evaluated for advanced heart failure therapies. The gatekeeping events preventing patients from referral are multifactorial and based on historical injustices and structural barriers outside of the scope of healthcare. Recommendations for improving equity in access include improved heart failure guidelines for referral, cultural bias training for healthcare professionals, and government-led initiatives to provide universal financing for transplantation.

THE INFLUENCE OF DEMOGRAPHIC, SOCIAL, AND ECONOMIC FACTORS ON REFERRAL FOR HEART FAILURE SERVICES

by

Catherine Elaine Kelty

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate College contributing to the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Interdisciplinary Health Sciences Western Michigan University June 2022

Doctoral Committee:

Kieran Fogarty, Ph.D., Chair Kata Chillag, Ph.D. Michael Dickinson, M.D. Rob Lyerla, Ph.D., M.S. © 2022 Catherine Elaine Kelty

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my academic advisor, Dr. Kieran Fogarty, for his support and guidance throughout my education and training in the IHS Ph.D. program. His attention and commitment to my research plans, as well as extensive expertise, were invaluable to the successful completion of this project. Thank you to my committee members Dr. Kata Chillag, Dr. Michael Dickinson, and Dr. Rob Lyerla for your insight and expertise in the areas of ethics, advanced heart failure, statistics, and many other important areas. I have enjoyed our many conversations over the years, along with Dr. Fogarty, discussing various topics, particularly with regards to social disparities of health. I would also like to thank the IHS program faculty and my 2018 cohort members. Your conversations and support were always an important part of the Ph.D. education experience.

Thank you, Maggie, for entering my life at exactly the right time. You are the light of my life. Thank you to my friends and family, particularly my dad, John, for his steady support throughout my life, and to my mother-in-law, Joanne, who has been an active supporter of my educational efforts and has spent countless hours caring for Maggie, preparing meals, etc., so that I could do my "homework." Thank you to my mother, my guardian angel. Finally, I would like to thank my husband, Tim, for his endless support while I have been in this program. I would never have seen the finish line without him. Your love means the world to me.

Catherine Elaine Kelty

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWI	LEDGEMENTS ii
LIST OF TA	ABLESvi
LIST OF A	CRONYMS vii
CHAPTER	
I.	INTRODUCTION
	Significance of the Research1
	Statement of Purpose4
	Research Questions
	Definition of Terms5
	Chapter Summary6
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE
	Heart Failure7
	Referral for Advanced Heart Failure Services
	Clinical Decision-Making10
	Patient Decision-Making14
	Advanced Heart Failure Services17
	Social Support19
	Economic Factors20
	Substance abuse23

Table of Contents-Continued

CHAPTER

	Depression and Mental Illness	25
	Gender-Related Factors	
	Influence of Race and Ethnicity	29
	Age	
	Structural Barriers	
	Ethics	
	Summary	35
III.	METHODOLOGY	
	Approach	37
	Study Population	37
	Study Design	
	Analytical Framework	40
	Statistical Analysis Plan	41
IV.	RESULTS	45
	Referral	45
	Clinic Visit with Advanced Heart Failure Specialist	50
	Advanced Heart Failure Therapies	51
	Mortality	56
V.	DISCUSSION	59
	Referral	59

Table of Contents-Continued

CHAPTER

Clinic Visit	with AHF Specialist	
AHF Treatm	ent	
Mortality		
Limitations a	and Future Research	66
Interdisciplin	nary Research	
Recommend	ations	69
Clinica	l and Health Systems Recommendations	
Policy	Recommendations	
Conclusions		71
REFERENCES		72

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Summary of baseline characteristics for all patients diagnosed with heart failure47
2.	Patients referred to an advanced heart failure specialist compared to patients not referred48
3.	Time from diagnosis to referral accessed assessed by Cox proportional hazards model49
4.	Patients with a clinic visit compared to patients without a clinic visit
5.	Time from diagnosis to clinic visit assessed by Cox proportional hazards model
6.	Time from diagnosis to AHF treatment assessed by Cox proportional hazards model53
7.	Patients who received heart transplantation compared to patients without transplantation54
8.	Tim from diagnosis to heart transplant assessed by Cox proportional hazards model
9.	Patients who received a LVAD compared to patients who did not receive LVAD56
10.	Time from diagnosis to LVAD implantation assessed by Cox proportional hazards model57
11.	Factors affecting 1-year mortality from date of diagnosis assessed by logistic regression58

LIST OF ACRONYMS

- AHF Advanced heart failure
- LVAD Left ventricular assist device

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Significance of the Research

Despite medical advances, there is no cure for AHF (AHF). Patients with AHF are in such an advanced disease state that they cannot be managed by conventional medical treatments such as medication or surgery. For these patients, cardiac transplantation is the best available intervention. The next best treatment is the left ventricular assist device (LVAD), which is a surgically implantable, mechanical pump that provides circulatory support, either while the patient waits for a transplant or long-term support if the patient is ineligible for transplant.¹ Heart transplantation provides the best outcomes, with 91% one-year survival and LVAD providing 82% one-year survival.² Candidates for both cardiac transplantation and LVAD must undergo an extensive selection process before becoming eligible for either treatment. Organs are a scare resource with inherent restrictions on their availability and access. Both transplantation and LVAD implantation require extensive lifelong medical management, making patient selection a crucial step toward determining appropriate candidacy.

There are national policies to dictate the allocation practices of donor organs, but transplant programs are responsible for selecting patients that are in medical need and are likely to have a successful transplant. The autonomy of each transplant program allows for variability in how patients are selected to be candidates for transplantation, and it is not until they are candidates that the national policies are applicable. The United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) and the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN) are responsible for developing the policies for organ procurement and allocation in the United States. UNOS is a private, non-profit organization based in Richmond, Virginia that is under contract with the United States Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). UNOS serves as the OPTN and manages all organ transplantations in the United States.

An allocation system is necessary due to the scarcity of donor organs. Factors such as distance from the donor hospital, blood type, and the medical need of the candidate play a role in how donor hearts are allocated.³ The National Organ Transplant Act (NOTA), a federal law passed in 1984, requires that the allocation system for donor organs must account for both efficiency and equity.⁴ Equity is important so that there is justice in allocation, and efficiency allows for increased survival and number of recipients.³ However, there are no regulations insisting on equitable allocation as part of the selection process at the transplant hospital.

Eligibility for AHF treatments such as transplant and LVAD involve an extensive selection process. Organizations under contract with the U.S. government such as the United Network of Organ Sharing (UNOS) or the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN) have no regulations or requirements for the institutional selection procedures, and it is up to each transplant program to develop their own guidelines. Therefore, even though the allocation system put in place by UNOS and OPTN is uniform and considers justice and medical utility, each transplant center develops their own criteria for candidacy of both transplantation and LVAD implantation.

The International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT), Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine, American Society of Transplantation, International Consortium of Circulatory Assist Clinicians, and the Society for Transplant Social Workers collaborated to produce a guidance document for individual transplant programs which outlines recommendations for the psychosocial assessment of transplant or LVAD candidate.⁵ This

included guidance for such factors as social support, cognitive impairment, substance use, and substance abuse. Notably, OPTN policies state that allocation should not be dependent on financial status,⁶ but eligibility based on ability to pay is left to the individual transplant programs to determine. The financial evaluation is in fact a part of the evaluation process for transplant and LVAD at transplant programs across the country. According to a national survey, 48% of heart transplant programs require proof of appropriate insurance coverage before evaluation for transplant and 84% require coverage before listing.⁷ Recent research has shown that patients with Medicare or Medicaid were less likely to be eligible for a transplant when compared to privately insured patients.⁸

This leads to the question if there are gatekeeping events keeping patients from seeing an AHF specialist in the first place, despite clinical eligibility. There is currently a deficit in the literature investigating referrals to heart failure services, and the research that does exist is focused on the clinical aspects of referral.^{9,10} Understanding physician decision-making during the clinical evaluation is difficult, as decisions are based on clinical, social, and personal characteristics.¹¹ The inherent restrictions witnessed in the evaluation process for advanced therapies therefore lead us to investigate whether there are disparities in access to services *before* a patient receives an advanced therapy evaluation, and whether the disparities are caused by social or economic factors.

This study builds on previous, unpublished¹² research by the author, which investigated the demographic, psychosocial, and socioeconomic factors affecting eligibility for AHF interventions such as heart transplant and LVAD and whether these treatments were received. That research found that public insurance and social support were significant factors in the selection process. The proposed study takes a step back, asking whether or not the access to heart

failure treatments exists only at the level of advanced therapies or if patients are determined to be unsuitable earlier in their disease trajectory.

This study provides evidence regarding potential issues with access and eligibility for AHF services because the patients not referred for heart failure services have not been investigated before. Limited research has been done on referrals because the data related to physician-decision making is not readily available and required detailed chart review.¹¹ This research assesses whether there are points of access before the patient has a chance to go through the transplant and LVAD evaluation process. The study was conducted at one Midwest hospital system with a transplant program that serves 13 counties.¹³ Even a single center study such as this may have far-reaching implications, as patients and providers strike for justice in access to healthcare services. Ultimately, this research has the potential to produce practice changes that may reduce disparities in referral.

Statement of Purpose

The aim of this research was to understand the extent to which disparities in referral influence utilization of AHF services. To do this, the progression of heart failure care at one Midwest hospital system with a transplant and LVAD program was examined. The study identified demographic, social and economic factors that differed between patients referred for and able to receive AHF services, and those that were not referred or did not receive services. Patients with social determinants of health are hypothesized to be less likely to be referred for and receive AHF services. Findings from this research may provide information to increase use of AHF therapies in vulnerable populations.

Research Questions

The following questions will be asked:

- Do patients who were diagnosed with heart failure and referred for AHF services differ from patients diagnosed with heart failure and were not referred with regards to demographic, social, and economic factors?
- 2.) Do patients who were referred for AHF services and had a clinic visit with an AHF specialist differ from patients referred but did not have a clinic visit with regards to demographic, social, and economic factors?
- 3.) Do patients who had a clinic visit and received AHF treatment (transplant and LVAD) differ from patients who had a clinic visit and did not receive AHF treatment?
- 4.) Does the length of time from diagnosis to referral, diagnosis to clinic visit, diagnosis to treatment, and/or diagnosis to death differ based on demographic, social, and economic variables?

Definition of Terms

- Advanced heart failure (AHF): An advanced subset of heart failure with severe, persistent symptoms despite medical management.¹⁴
- Advanced therapy: A heart transplant or mechanical circulatory support, such as an LVAD, for treatment of heart failure.¹⁵
- Heart failure: A complex clinical syndrome resulting in impaired ventricular filling or ejection of blood.¹⁴

- 4. Heart transplant: The surgical removal of a diseased heart and replacement with a healthy heart from a deceased donor in an effort to increase lifespan and improve quality of life.¹⁶
- 5. *Left ventricular assist device (LVAD):* A type of mechanical circulatory support used to treat patients with AHF, consisting of a mechanical pump that provides circulatory support.¹

Chapter Summary

Patients with AHF are in an advanced disease state with limited medical options, and a heart transplantation or LVAD are the best available treatment option. There is an extensive evaluation process for the selection of heart transplant and LVAD candidates due to the scarcity of donor organs and lifelong medical management required for either therapy. It is unknown what barriers exist that prevent patients with heart failure from undergoing an evaluation with an AHF specialist. Whether demographic, social, and economic factors affect referral to the AHF clinic and patient visits with an AHF specialist in one Midwest hospital system will be investigated.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Due to the selection process for AHF services, lifesaving treatments will not be provided to everyone in medical need. While selection of the most appropriate candidates for services is imperative for success, a patient's demographic, social, and economic characteristics play a role in eligibility resulting in inequitable distribution of services. This section examines the trajectory from heart failure diagnosis through the referral process and ultimately eligibility for advanced services. Understanding the criteria that prevent patients from receiving AHF services after a referral is essential in investigating whether these same barriers exist before a patient receives a referral for AHF services.

Heart Failure

The American College of Cardiology Foundation and the American Heart Association define heart failure as "a complex clinical syndrome that results from any structural or functional impairment of ventricular filling or ejection of blood."¹⁴ Heart failure often involves pericardium, myocardium, endocardium, or great vessels disorders, but most patients have impaired left ventricular myocardial function.¹⁷ As of 2019, an estimated 6.2 million Americans over the age of 20 years old had heart failure.¹⁸ Risk factors for heart failure include hypertension, diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, and atherosclerotic disease.¹⁴

Some patients with heart failure are in such an advanced disease state that they cannot be managed by medication or standard surgery. For those patients, the best available treatment is a heart transplantation, with the next best option being an LVAD. Both treatments require lifelong medical management. A heart transplant is the surgical removal of the diseased heart and

replacement with a healthy heart from a deceased donor.¹⁶ A heart transplant recipient must take immunosuppressants for the rest of their life so that their body does not reject the new heart. An LVAD is a surgically implanted device that supports heart function and the flow of blood out of the heart.¹ The LVAD consists of the pump placed inside the body, tubes that carry blood from the heart to blood vessels, a power source for the pump, and an electronic controller for the pump. The pump is connected to the external controller by a driveline that passes through the skin from the inside to the outside of the patient's body.¹ The device must be connected to a power source at all times, therefore the patient must either carry a battery pack or plug the device directly into a wall outlet. Daily dressing changes at the driveline exit site in the abdomen are required to reduce the risk of infection and may require the assistance of a caretaker. Many LVAD recipients take anticlotting medications due to the increased risk for blood clots when blood is in contact with the device.¹

LVADs may be utilized as bridge-to-transplant (BTT), meaning the patient is implanted with an LVAD while they wait for a donor heart to become available. As more patients have been stabilized and supported by LVADs as BTT, the number of heart transplant candidates has increased as well.¹⁹ LVADs may also be used as destination therapy (DT), in which an LVAD is used in heart failure patients that may be ineligible for a heart transplant. Further, some heart transplant candidates may not be eligible to be supported by an LVAD due to their specific anatomy or nature of their heart failure.

Referral for Advanced Heart Failure Services

In recent years, the gatekeeping model has become more prominent in the United States health care system.²⁰ In this model, a primary care practitioner must refer a patient before they

may have an appointment with a specialist. This system is meant to avoid unnecessary, costly, and invasive procedures²¹ in addition to providing preventive, routine care and total coordination of an individual's health care needs.²⁰ However, some insurance policies, such as a preferred provider organization (PPO) plan, may allow patients to go directly to a cardiologist without a referral.¹¹

For patients with heart failure, they are often first seen by their primary care physician, and it is there that they may be first diagnosed with heart failure. Many patients with heart failure present to their healthcare provider with decreased exercise tolerance, symptoms of fluid retention, or the patient may have no cardiac symptoms and cardiac dysfunction may be noticed as an incidental finding.¹⁷ The physician must assess disease severity and request appropriate testing. Based on those results, the patient may then receive a referral to a cardiologist and potentially a second referral to a heart failure cardiologist. Referral to the heart failure clinic is indicated based on clinical deterioration despite optimal care, including medications such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, angiotensin receptor blocker, beta-blocker, aldosterone antagonist, hydralazine, and/or isosorbide dinitrate, or an implantable cardioverter defibrillator or resynchronization therapy.⁹ Markers for referral include the commonly used New York Heart Association functional classifications of III or IV, intolerance to heart failure medication, hypotension, anemia, decreased renal function, and/or recurrent heart failure hospitalizations.¹⁰ At the heart failure clinic, the patient may finally receive an evaluation by a surgeon specializing in heart transplant or LVAD services.²²

When a patient meets the criteria for an evaluation with an AHF specialist, it is up to the primary care physician or cardiologist to make that referral. Even if the patient has a known contraindications to AHF therapies, such as active malignant disease or noncompliance, the

patient should still be referred to see a heart failure specialist who will conduct their own evaluation.⁹ Ideally, the patient is medically stable as the time of the long, complex evaluation process but, at times, this evaluation is conducted in an urgent and accelerated manner. A patient-specific risk-benefit analysis should be performed and include patient preferences, center-specific protocols, and consideration for post-transplant or post-LVAD outcomes.⁹

While bias may be introduced at any step in the specialist referral process, a specific area of concern is when patients may not be referred at all and why that situation may occur. Current research has focused on the heart failure specialist while limited research has been done on the patient's initial presentation to their primary care physician with heart failure symptoms. The main reason patients are not referred to heart failure specialists is likely due to insufficient understanding of the disease by primary care clinicians and lack of clear guidelines to identify appropriate patients.²³ The primary care physician and/or cardiologist must believe that certain tests or procedures are warranted for patient evaluation. Referral or non-referral may be based on something as simple as the relationship that exists between the referring physician and the specialist, ^{11,24} and concerns have been made that clinician bias could negatively affect the patient-clinician relationship.²⁵

Clinician Decision-Making

The primary care physician or cardiologist has an important role in the clinical care a patient with heart failure may receive. While it is expected that clinical decision-making is based on evidence-based practices, a number of non-clinical factors may influence clinical decisions.²⁴ Referral bias is the non-referral of certain populations, i.e., the uninsured, for evaluation by a specialist, or a hospital or institution not accepting certain populations of patients.²⁶ The term

bias may be defined as the negative evaluation of the members of one group compared to another.²⁷ In most cases, bias in healthcare is implicit, meaning the clinician is unconsciously and unintentionally biased against members of a particular social group. Just as biases exist in all areas of society, implicit bias may influence clinical decision-making and ultimately promote disparities in health care.²⁷

According to the Institute of Medicine, three factors caused by providers might be involved in promoting healthcare disparities based on race/ethnicity: bias or prejudice against minorities, increased clinician uncertainty during interactions with minority patients, and provider-held stereotypes about the health or behavior of minorities.²⁵ Research suggests that physician bias can impact decision-making and promote health care disparities. Quantitative²⁴ and qualitative²⁸ research has demonstrated that clinical decisions are not only made by medical information and that patient race/ethnicity play a factor. When black and white patients present to the emergency room with similar levels of pain, black patients are less likely to receive analgesia.²⁹ Between black and white patients with similar severity of depressive symptoms, black patients were less likely to be prescribed antidepressant medication.³⁰ Black and Hispanic patients were less likely than white patients to receive care in a physician's office or outpatient setting, while hospital and emergency room care were the same in all groups.³¹ In a qualitative study assessing clinician's views toward racial disparities in health care, one physician stated that racial/ethnic minority patients were less likely to be adherent to taking their medications and therefore she was less likely to refer her patients to specialists.³² This is in agreement with the idea that if patients show mistrust, have poor compliance, or refuse treatment, they may not receive more specialized services.²⁵ This may become a circular response to one another's

attitudes, but undeniably the provider is in the more powerful position and should be looked at for targeted interventions.²⁵

Socioeconomic factors also play a role in physician decision-making. Clinicians may order fewer tests or choose a different medication strategy based on economic status and insurance coverage.²⁴ Care may even be delayed care due to an assumed financial burden on the part of the provider.²⁴ In a cohort of women over 50 years old, those with lower educational attainment and household income were less likely to receive a physician recommendation for mammography.³³ Unfortunately, these adjustments in patient care may result in lower quality services compared to patients with more flexible schedules and the means to pay for their care and transportation. Patients with no insurance tend to have cancer diagnosed when it is at a later stage.³⁴ Patients with private insurance receive better primary care, in terms of first contact, longitudinality, comprehensiveness, and coordination, compared to the publicly insured; and the publicly insured received better care than the uninsured.³⁵ In a focus group setting, black patients have voiced concerns about discrimination and preferential treatment based on financial status and insurance coverage.³⁶ It is unknown how many people in need of a heart transplant are excluded due lack of referral of uninsured patients.²⁶

Other areas of implicit bias include gender, age, and patients that are obese.³⁷ Females with similar symptoms and health history as men were less likely to be diagnosed with COPD.³⁸ Age has an effect on treatment decisions, as older patients have been less likely to be referred for diagnostic procedures³⁹ or prescribed beta-blockers after myocardial infarctions⁴⁰ when compared to younger patients. Clinicians specializing in obesity who took the Implicit Associations Test were found to associate obese patients with negative stereotypes such as being lazy, stupid, or worthless.⁴¹

Additionally, the intersection of any of the above factors can have an effect on access to healthcare. Race is likely a surrogate for other patient factors which affect access to healthcare services and patient outcomes.^{42,43} Socially vulnerable groups often face a "chain of events" that lead to poor outcomes, which can include limitations with education, transportation, health literacy, social support and results in reduced access to healthcare, poor compliance, diet, or lifestyle choices.⁴⁴

Limited English language fluency may also influence access to health care services, as well as trust in the medical system, the cultural competence of physicians, and the lack of representation in clinical trials.⁴⁵ The intersection between race and socioeconomic factors is revealed when looking at rates of insured individuals stratified by race. According to the United States Census Bureau report from 2020, people of Hispanic origin had the highest uninsured rate at 18.3%.⁴⁶ The uninsured rate for black, Asian, and non-Hispanic white individuals was 10.4%, 5.9%, and 5.4%, respectively.⁴⁶ The higher rates of uninsured individuals in non-white racial and ethnic groups is an important contributor to limited access to healthcare services in these populations. As for public insurance coverage, individuals in the black racial group had the highest rate at 41.4%, with 35.9% of people of Hispanic origin, 33.8 of non-Hispanic whites, and 27.0 of Asian individuals with public insurance.⁴⁶ The highest rate of private insurance was in non-Hispanic whites individuals (73.9%), followed by Asians (72.4%), blacks (54.6%), and people of Hispanic origin (49.9%).⁴⁶ As illustrated above, differences in insurance type and coverage can have an effect on access to services in addition to outcomes, although other unseen factors are also likely at play.

Conditions of social inequality function as fundamental causes of disease. For instance, an analysis of tax records from 2001-2014 revealed that higher income was associated with a

longer life.⁴⁷ The gap in life expectancy in the United States was 14.6 years between the richest 1% and poorest 1% of men and 10.1 years between the richest 1% and poorest 1% of women.⁴⁷ The complex factors contribute to unfavorable outcomes in non-white racial and ethnic groups. Heart failure patients belonging to non-white racial and ethnic groups tend to have greater morbidity and mortality.⁴⁵ Higher rates of comorbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and obesity in black heart failure patients compared to white heart failure patients have been noted in the literature.⁴⁸

Patient involvement is an essential part of the clinical decision-making process.²⁴ In qualitative studies, clinicians have shared through interviews that improved patient-clinician relationships occur when clinicians are willing to understand a patient's culture, can comminute using the patient's language, and works with the patient toward treatment goals.²⁸ The extent to which health care disparities affect the utilization of technologies is the crux of the proposed research.

Patient Decision-Making

Access to healthcare services and utilization of services are not interchangeable terms.⁴⁹ Patients may decline healthcare services for personal, cultural, religious, or socioeconomic reasons. Socially reinforced roles may influence patient decision-making in terms of choosing to undergo a medical treatment.

Research has demonstrated that women turn down medical treatments more often than men, for example, women who were eligible for heart transplantation were more likely to refuse transplantation than men despite recommendation that it was the best therapeutic option.⁵⁰ A potential reason for this refusal is the ubiquitous role women play when it comes to reproductive

labor. Women are more likely to take on the childcare, cooking, and cleaning responsibilities of a household than men.⁵¹ Advanced heart failure therapies such as transplantation and LVAD are life-changing with regards to follow-up care, lifestyle changes, and lifelong medications, which may not be feasible for women more than men due to reproductive labor.

Socioeconomic factors also play a role in patient decision-making. Patients who refused heart transplantation were more likely to have insurance coverage through Medicaid, Veterans Affairs, or workers' compensation compared to patients who had commercial insurance, health maintenance organization, or Blue Cross/Blue Shield insurance that did not refuse.⁵⁰ The financial burden may be too much for some patients to choose the best therapeutic option, with patients in economic hardship choosing comfort care over life-extending measures.⁵² Further, if employed patients miss work due to their heart failure symptoms, they may lose their eligibility for insurance coverage and therefore may not be able to get the healthcare they require.²⁶

Regional differences in the availability of primary care are an important aspect of patient access. Of particular importance to this research is the ability to have continuity of care, from a primary care physician to a cardiologist, to an AHF specialist. This continuity varies regionally and is essential in obtaining an appointment with a specialist.¹¹ Lack of a primary care physician affects likelihood of referral, since the evaluation and referral process requires follow-up visits and an ongoing discussion of symptoms with the provider. Therefore, lack of an appropriate provider or specialist is one's area could be problematic, especially for those with transportation limitations or scheduling hurdles with work and childcare.¹¹

Patient trust in the healthcare system also affects decision-making. This is particularly true for black patients. Some are afraid, whether conscious or not, that white medical providers will subject them to experimentation.¹¹ The fear stems from events such as the Tuskegee syphilis

study⁵³ and still exists today. Focus groups have revealed that black patients have concerns about potential experimentation in medical settings.³⁶ Other qualitative research has suggested that racial and ethnic minority patients have lower levels of trust in the health care system, spiritual beliefs that guide decision-making, and fear of procedures.²⁸ In addition to the Tuskegee atrocity, mass incarceration, immigration raids, and police killings have all contributed to peripheral trauma for minority populations and may impact trust in the medical system.⁵⁴

As mentioned above, race is inextricably intertwined with class and gender. In seriously ill patients, non-white patients were more likely than white patients to suffer from a loss of their family savings that white patients.⁵² Race shapes social encounters as well as educational and economic opportunities in ways that affect emotional, mental, and physical health.⁴³ Black patients in focus groups have stated that they want their physician to trust them regarding what they feel about their health.³⁶ The Kaiser Family Foundation reported that as of 2019, nonelderly adults of American Indian and Alaskan Native, Hispanic, Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander, and black racial and ethnic groups were less likely to have health insurance compared to the white nonelderly population.⁵⁵

Perceptions of illness severity may impact decision-making, and vary with culture, race, or ethnicity. In a community telephone survey, non-white respondents and those with lower socioeconomic status were less likely to know symptoms of a heart attack.⁵⁶ Therefore, patients of racial and ethnic minority may delay seeking medical care due to lack of recognition of coronary artery disease symptoms.¹¹

The patient's comprehension of the risks and benefits to certain treatments also play a role in decision-making. Acceptability of risk may vary for patients, in addition to views about

quality of life and future life expectancy. Some patients may refuse treatment to preserve their current quality of life, even if that goes against the medically optimal treatment.²⁴

The refusal, or unaffordability, of treatment may ultimately be detrimental when a patient is too sick to receive appropriate care. For example, since women who saw a primary care physician were more likely to undergo mammography for cancer screening,⁵⁷ those women who did not see a primary care and therefor did not receive a cancer screening may one day be ineligible for AHF services should they get cancer.

Advanced Heart Failure Services

Patients who have been referred for a visit with an AHF specialist must face a complex evaluation process with restrictions on the availability of life-saving services. The process outlined in this section illustrates the complexity of care and hurdles every patient with heart failure must face.

Donor organs are a limited resource and there is a national allocation system in place to guide the distribution of organs to suitable candidates. The United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) is a private, non-profit organization under contract with the federal government and administers the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN). The National Organ Procurement Act (NOTA) was passed in 1984 and mandated the creation of an OPTN to manage the allocation of all donor organs in the United States. All organ procurement organizations and transplant centers must be OPTN members. Patients in need of a donor organ must be added to the OPTN national waitlist in order to be eligible to receive a donor organ.⁶ According to NOTA, the national allocation system must be both efficient and equitable.⁴

Transplant centers are responsible for selecting patients to place on the transplant waiting list. Before a patient is deemed to be an eligible candidate for a donor organ, the patient must undergo an extensive evaluation process at their transplant center. Since both heart transplant and LVAD recipients require lifelong medical adherence and pharmacological care, there is a selection process to determine candidacy for either intervention. Medical, surgical, psychosocial, and financial eligibility must be determined in order to become a candidate for heart transplant or LVAD. Eligibility decisions are based on medical need but are also based on selecting patients who are likely to have a successful transplantation without a high risk for mortality or adverse events. The psychosocial evaluation is an important step in determining candidacy due to the major lifestyle changes patients of either advanced therapy must undergo. The assessment is necessary to determine whether there are concerns with medical adherence, social support, mental health, substance use/abuse, and cognition which may inhibit a patient's success post-intervention. The assessment also identifies patient risk factors that may be modified in an effort to improve patient outcomes before the patients is eligible for transplant or LVAD.⁵⁸

Each transplant center determines their own criteria for the transplant waitlist. Many organizations recommend psychosocial evaluations for transplant eligibility there are no regulations dictating the candidate selection process at each transplant center. OPTN bylaws state that transplant centers are required to employ trained professionals to conduct the psychosocial evaluations of potential candidates⁵⁹ The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) advise that a psychosocial evaluation of potential transplant recipient occurs when possible.⁶⁰ A consensus paper from groups such as the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT), Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine (APM), American Society of Transplantation (AST), International Consortium of Circulatory Assist Clinicians (ICCAC),

and the Society for Transplant Social Workers (STSW) has provided some guidance on patient selection, naming adherence, mental health history, and substance use history as risk factors for poor outcomes for heart transplant or LVAD recipients.⁵ The recommendations for the psychosocial evaluation are based on the need to assess for risk factors that may predict post-transplantation and post-LVAD implantation outcomes; obtain information related to a patient's decision-making capacity regarding transplant or LVAD implant; obtain information about personal, social, and environmental characteristics that could reduce the impact of how their psychosocial risk factors affect post-transplantation and post-implantation outcomes; and specific MCS-related evaluations related to a patient's ability to operate the equipment.⁵ The guidance document also suggests that the transplant and LVAD care teams should provide tools and interventions to high-risk patients in an effort to improve outcomes, but implementing and improving likelihood of candidacy of underserved populations is up to the care team at each institution.

While there are no regulations outlining the psychosocial evaluation requirements, CMS requires that transplant programs track and report their institutional outcomes which are then taken into account by CMS when determining conditions of hospital participation.⁶⁰ As Boyum et al. pointed out, herein lies an incentive for transplant centers to select low-risk patients for transplantation in order to maintain CMS coverage for their transplant program.⁶¹

Social Support

The ISHLT/APM/AST/ICCAC/STSW guidance document states that lack of social support is a contraindication to heart transplantation and MCS implantation.⁵ Social support is considered a requirement to improve the likelihood of patient adherence to their complex

medical needs. In this context, social support means that the patient has available, stable, and capable individuals to provide support for their medical care and emotional needs.⁵ Social support has a particular importance for VAD patients who must adjust to a new way of life with the implanted device. The available research on social support highlights this concern. In a prospective study of heart, liver, and lung transplant candidates, lack of pretransplant social support was a predictors of post-transplant nonadherence.⁶² This study also demonstrated that lack of a partner, such as a spouse or living with a stable significant other, was a predictor of graft loss between six and twelve months.⁶² Not only the presence of a caregiver but the relationship of the caregiver has an effect on survival, as shown in two studies.^{63,64} Mollberg et al. demonstrated that lung transplant recipients with spousal caregivers had increased rates of survival compared to patients with a sibling or adult child as a caretaker.⁶³ Similarly, an analysis of heart transplant recipients revealed improved 1-year and 5-year survival in married patients compared to patients with children and/or grandchildren.⁶⁴

In a 2016 survey of thoracic transplant professionals, 85% of respondents felt that patients with higher socioeconomic status were more likely to have adequate social support compared to patients with a lower socioeconomic status, and 93% of respondents considered adequate social support to be a fair requirement.⁶⁵ These findings shed light on the inequity of the transplant evaluation process, as the current system reduces the likelihood of those with social and economic disadvantages becoming eligible for heart transplant or LVAD.

Economic Factors

The use of insurance coverage as a requirement for transplantation and LVAD has been controversial, and many transplant professionals believe it should not be used to determine

eligibility.^{26,66} Even though the World Health Organization states in their Guiding Principles on Human Cell, Tissue and Organ Transplantation that organ allocation should not be based on financial circumstances,⁶⁷ few patients that are underinsured or without insurance receive a transplant⁷ or even undergo an evaluation.²⁶ Specifically, public insurance has shown to be associated with reduced access to advanced therapies. A single center review of advanced therapy evaluations indicated that patients with Medicare or Medicaid were less likely to be eligible for a transplant when compared to privately insured patients.⁸ An analysis of the nationwide inpatient sample demonstrated the private insured to have the highest rate of utilization amongst LVAD recipients.⁶⁸ One reason for reduced eligibility is that many public insurance plans only offer partial coverage and multiple Medicare coverage plans are required for eligibility at many programs.^{69,70}

Less favorable outcomes among the publicly insured are well documented in the literature. A single center chart review showed that Medicaid insurance was associated with increased risk of one-year mortality in patients ineligible for AHF therapies.⁸ In two separate analyses of the UNOS database, Medicare and Medicaid insurance were shown to be predictors of mortality in heart transplant recipients.^{71,72} An analysis of the Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients of heart, liver, lung, and renal recipients demonstrated that patients with Medicaid insurance had significantly lower rates of survival compared to the privately insured.⁷³ Patients with public insurance, and patients who transitioned from private to public insurance, have been demonstrated to have increased rates of mortality on year after heart transplantation.⁷⁴ Waitlist mortality is also worse amongst BTT LVAD patients with Medicaid coverage compared to those with private insurance.⁷⁵ Poor outcomes in patients of lower socioeconomic status may be the result of limitations in the financing of healthcare services in the United States.^{5,76} Previous

investigators have noted that access to follow-up care and coverage of immunosuppressive medications may contribute to higher mortality rates in the publicly insured.⁷¹ Medicare requires a 20% copayment for immunosuppressive medications which may not be feasible in the long-term for some patients.⁷⁷ Barriers to access likely cause delays in treatment, and publicly insured patients with AHF may be evaluated for advanced therapies in a more advanced disease state compared to the privately insured. Such delays could have a direct effect on the success of transplantation or LVAD implantation.

Other socioeconomic factors have been shown to affect outcomes in patients with a heart transplant or LVAD. In an analysis of the UNOS data, Allen et al showed that a college education decreased the risk of mortality by 11% compared to patients without a college education,⁷¹ and Wayda et al demonstrated a college education reduced mortality by 18% in a separate analysis of the UNOS data.⁷² Another analysis of UNOS data showed that among heart transplant candidates, those who lived in counties with higher concentrations of household incomes greater than \$75,000 had a lower risk of mortality compared to candidates living in counties with high concentrations of income below the Federal poverty line.⁷⁸ Yet another study analyzed patients from the UNOS registry, but this time calculated the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality socioeconomic index, and found that patients within the lowest socioeconomic index quartile had an earlier and increased risk of post-transplant mortality compared to patients in each of the other quartiles.⁷⁹ In a study which assessed the self-reported financial status of patients with heart failure, those with lower financial status were more likely to experience a cardiac event in comparison to patients with a higher financial status.⁸⁰ Another study utilizing census-based socioeconomic indicators demonstrated an inverse association between cardiovascular disease mortality and education, income, and occupation amongst

patients in the National Longitudinal Mortality Study.⁸¹ Among middle-aged, healthy study participants with higher than average socioeconomic status, those that were unemployed were more likely to have a cardiovascular event.⁸² While employment status has been used as a predictor of poor health and mortality, it is possible that those with poor health are more likely to become unemployed.⁸³ Lower household income has also been shown to be associated with rejection for heart transplant candidacy.⁵⁰

Due to the insufficient coverage for heart and transplantation and LVAD implantation by the country's healthcare system, some have argued that the financial burden and hardships placed on recipients and caregivers may be too much for some patients and should be avoided.⁶⁶ The ethical consequences of such a decision must be considered. Denying organs based on financial eligibility has moral implications, as it is unjust that the uninsured can donate organs but may be unable to receive an organ if they are in need of a transplant.^{26,84} A survey of transplant professionals from 2013 revealed that only 6% of transplant programs participate in fundraising efforts for patients with insufficient resources.⁷ However, it is likely that socioeconomic status, specifically public insurance, is a surrogate for other personal and environmental characteristics that affect a patient's disease trajectory and outcomes.

Substance Abuse

Substance abuse is another contraindication for transplant and LVAD implantation due to concerns with patient compliance with the medical regimen resulting in poor patient outcomes. Substance use has been shown to be associated with non-compliance and adverse outcomes in heart transplant recipients.⁸⁵ For substance use such as tobacco, alcohol, and marijuana, each transplant program develops their own criteria for the risk associated with eligibility, while illicit

drugs are absolute contraindications. Transplant programs often require a period of sobriety before candidacy for advanced therapies in order to reduce the likelihood of relapse in the posttransplant period.

Previous research has shown that substance use and abuse is associated with poor outcomes in heart failure patients. A single center, retrospective review found that smoking was associated with an increased risk of one-year mortality among LVAD recipients who were smokers at the time of admission for LVAD implant.⁸⁶ An analysis of the Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support (INTERMACS) registry revealed that 1,941 (12.6%) of 15,403 LVAD recipients had substance abuse (either alcohol abuse or drug use) listed as a psychosocial risk factor.⁸⁷ Both alcohol abuse and drug use were associated with devicerelated infection and hospital readmission, while only drug use was associated with device thrombosis and only alcohol use was associated with gastrointestinal bleeding.⁸⁷

Due to differing attitudes and regional differences in legality, marijuana use may or may not be prohibitory to eligibility by transplant centers. In some states, laws have been passed to protect patients bring denied a transplant based on medical marijuana use,⁸⁸ but opinions regarding marijuana use and eligibility vary widely in the transplant community with some believing there is not enough research available to understand the risks involved.⁸⁹ Of transplant professionals surveyed in 2015, 64.4% felt that legal marijuana use should be allowed in transplant candidates, but 65.7% of respondents considered marijuana to be physically harmful.⁹⁰ A 2016 survey of the American Society of Transplantation members revealed that most (72%) respondents were concerned about the association between fungal complications and marijuana use, although less than half of those respondents reported observing fungal infections that they considered attributable to marijuana use.⁹¹ Other possible adverse effects of marijuana use that are of concern include drug-drug interactions, pulmonary disease, cardiovascular disease, renal disease, gastrointestinal disease, addiction, and neuropsychiatric disease, although there is limited clinical data available on how marijuana use affects outcomes in organ transplantation.⁹²

Variability between transplant program in the philosophical approach to substance use eligibility for advanced therapies is problematic. Such variability creates disparities in access to an inherently limited resource and therefore calls for a universal standard defining substance abuse, expectations of abstinence, testing standards, and action plans for patients have been made.⁸⁹ It has been speculated that patients with a history of substance use and/or abuse may not be viewed as favorably as patients with other behaviors such as sedentary lifestyle, morbid obesity, poor dietary choices, non-adherence, and altered mental status.⁹² Improving candidacy of patients who have a substance use or abuse history is important, as these patients are able to contribute to the organ donor pool but may be unable to receive a transplant if medically needed. Uniform practices for assessment and treatment of patients with substance use which prevents them from advanced therapy eligibility could improve equity for such patients across all transplant programs.

Depression and Mental Illness

Uncontrolled psychiatric conditions that affect medical adherence are a contraindication to heart transplantation and LVAD implantation.⁵ Therefore, the psychosocial assessment is important for understanding a patient's mental health history as well as previous and current treatments. Understanding risk factors is essential for offering appropriate treatments to potential candidates who are medically eligible for AHF treatments.
The available evidence on research examining patients with AHF patients and mental health diagnoses show less than ideal outcomes.^{93–95} Previous research has shown depression to be associated with poor health outcomes post-transplantation, with a prospective study revealing patients with depression and social isolation at the time of listing had lower post-transplant survival compared to patients without depression and social isolation at time of listing.⁹³ A single center analysis of psychosocial risk factors demonstrate that current depression disorder and history of a suicide attempt were predictors of shorter survival time in heart transplant recipeints.⁹⁴ In a meta-analysis, Dew et al. found a 65% increase in mortality risk among patients with diagnosed depression.⁹⁵

However, not all heart transplant recipients with depression have poor outcomes. In a single center retrospective review, Delibasic et al. found that patients with depression had similar survival rates, number of organ rejections, and compliance with outpatient appoints compared to patients without depression.⁹⁶ The patients with depression had a higher number of hospitalizations post-transplant as well as a higher number of admissions due to infection. Another single center study showed no difference in survival, time to first hospitalization, and rejection rates between patients diagnosed with depression and those without depression.⁹⁷ All patients with depression were treated with antidepressant medications or psychotherapy before or within of year of transplantation. Transplant recipients at the Veterans Health Administration (VHA) who had severe mental illness did not have increased mortality or post-transplant complications compared to patients with other mental illness or without mental illness.⁹⁸ The mental health services offered at the VHA may contribute to the post-transplant outcomes.

Further, in their review of the effect of affective and psychotic disorders on transplant eligibility, Cahn-Fuller and Parent⁹⁹ describe published reports of patients with psychotic

disorders including schizophrenia who have had successful transplants.^{100–102} As Cahn-Fuller and Parent summarized, the positive outcomes were likely due to the extensive, individualized psychiatric care that these patients received. Further, differences in candidate selection criteria and the heterogenous psychiatric population make comparisons between practices at different transplant programs difficult. Therefore, generalizations about psychiatric illness and success after transplantation cannot be made.

While there is not enough research to confirm transplantation is appropriate in patients with psychiatric disorders, there is not enough evidence to prohibit patients from AHF therapies based on psychiatric conditions. As stated by Cahn-Fuller and Parent, post-transplant outcomes are likely the result of multiple factors in addition to psychiatric illness, including inadequate social support and medical noncompliance, and selection processes that exclude psychiatric patients are unjust.⁹⁹ The authors of that review suggested that the assessment of noncompliance is more important than presence of psychiatric illness and call for future research identifying risk factors of noncompliance. The variability in outcomes post-transplant demonstrate the need for interventions early in the heart failure disease trajectory.

Cognitive behavior therapy (CBT) interventions showed promising results in a prospective randomized controlled study including patients who had a heart failure diagnosis, a current major depressive episode, and a depressed score on the Beck Depression Inventory.¹⁰³ Patients were randomized into groups that received CBT or usual care, and those in the CBT arm had lower score for depression at six months, in addition to improved scores for anxiety, heart failure-related quality of life, mental health-related quality of life, fatigue, and social functioning.¹⁰³ These findings emphasize that psychiatric diagnosis alone should not be

prohibitive to transplantation, and interventions should be offered to those who may be eligible but require additional support.

Gender-Related Factors

Of the over 6.2 million Americans with heart failure, over half are women.¹⁸ Research has demonstrated that heart disease manifests differently based on sex, with different symptoms, including more complex and multifactorial signs in women than in men.¹⁰⁴ Complex factors are involved, but one reason is that the presence of estrogen acts as a protective factor against heart disease.¹⁰⁵ Current research indicates that in general, women with heart failure have better survival than men with heart failure.⁴⁵ Men are more likely to experience a cardiovascular-related cause of death than women.^{106,107}

At the advent of LVAD use, women were rarely enrolled in clinical trials because early versions of LVADs were too large for many female bodies.^{22,108,109} LVAD recipients tend to be younger and male compared to heart failure patients without an LVAD.⁶⁸ A review of the UNOS database found that while LVAD use in women has increased over the years, the rate of LVAD at listing remains significantly less in females (4.3% in 2008 and 18.9% in 2017) compared to males (5.0% in 2008 and 29.9% in 2017) (p<0.001).¹¹⁰ LVAD use in males may be reflected by the conventional use of LVADs in men due to larger body size, despite the decrease in LVAD size over the years.^{22,68} The available data suggests that there is no difference in survival rate after LVAD implantation between men and women,^{111,112} but women had greater risk of first neurological event,¹¹² longer length of stay, and higher incidence of right-heart failure, renal, and respiratory dysfunction.¹¹¹ The differences in adverse events may be due to the fact that women are referred for AHF therapies when their heart failure is at a more advanced disease state.¹⁰⁹

Women receive heart transplants less frequently than men, with 28.4% of the available hearts going to women and 71.6% going to men in 2017.² Heart transplantation in women has increased over the years, with women accounting for 19.7% of the total heart transplantations occurring in the years 1992-2000 and 23.7% in the years 2006-2011.¹¹³ However, women are more likely than men to refuse a heart transplant after they were determined eligible candidates.⁵⁰ These findings suggested that patient choice, rather than physician bias, was the reason behind fewer women receiving heart transplants.

Influence of Race and Ethnicity

The federal government has classified race into 5 categories (American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, black or African America, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, and white) and ethnicity is divided into two categories (Hispanic or Latino, or not Hispanic or Latino).¹¹⁴ While heart failure affects all populations, limited research is available on non-white populations. Non-white races and ethnic groups are underrepresented in clinical trials, making it difficult to understand the applicability of many research studies to non-White populations. An analysis of the nationwide inpatient sample database revealed that while the majority of LVAD recipients were white (78.5%), the rate of utilization was highest in Black patients (1.04%), compared to 0.89% in White patients.⁶⁸ However, available data shows the Black and White patients have similar outcomes after LVAD implantation.¹¹⁵ White patients are more likely to be candidates for heart transplantation than non-White patients.⁵⁰ Interestingly, prospective research investigating the development of cardiovascular disease showed that Black patients were more likely to develop heart failure before the age of 50 compared to White patients.⁴⁸ While Black heart failure patients had more episodes of rejection and more hospitalizations compared to White patients, however there was no difference in mortality after heart transplantation between the two racial categories.¹¹⁶

Patients in the Hispanic ethnic group are the most affected by risk factors for heart failure, such as diabetes, being overweight or obese, atherogenic dyslipidemia, metabolic syndrome and insulin , and poorly controlled hypertension.¹¹⁷ Compared to non-Hispanic whites, Hispanics have been shown to have higher rates of hospitalization and readmissions but rates of in-hospital and short-term mortality were lower.¹¹⁷ The increase in hospitalizations may be the result of limited access to preventive care due to Hispanics having high rates of uninsured individuals. Language barriers may also contribute to reduced access to preventative care. A report from the Pew Research Center stated that 11% of Hispanics in the U.S. over the age of 5 (over 5.5 million individuals) did not speak English proficiently as of 2013.¹¹⁸

As discussed above, lack of trust in the medical system is another reason for the differences in access and outcomes between racial and ethnic groups. Black persons have been subjected to exploitation within the medical system, a notable example being the Tuskegee syphilis study.⁵³ It is therefore expected that there would be mistrust in the medical system. This mistrust has likely contributed to less black organ donors as the health care system is not viewed as equitable.¹¹⁹

Age

The lifetime risk for heart failure is high in older adults, at 20-45% for individuals 45 to 95 years old.¹⁸ A number of age-related changes in the physiological cardiac characteristics may contribute to the increased risk of heart failure as we age, including decreased numbers and

function of cardiac muscle cells, impaired regenerative functions, buildup of amyloid protein in the heart, and increased risk of hypertension.⁴⁵

The management of heart failure in older patients is different from that in younger patients. Older adults have an increased number of comorbidities which can complicate management of their heart failure.⁴⁵ Older adults are not often treated with transplant or LVAD, and some institutions have upper age limits for transplant eligibility. Seventy years old has been the historical cut-off, but as care has improved, more patients \geq 70 years old have been transplanted with good outcomes.¹²⁰ The decision between aggressive treatment for heart failure or maximizing quality of life is a decision for the individual patient. Like the other groups mentioned above, older adults are less represented in clinical trials, therefore making evidencebased practices less applicable to this group.

Age is a key factor predicting mortality in heart failure patients, likely due to increasing numbers of noncardiac comorbidities.⁴⁵ An analysis of nation-wide heart failure hospitals revealed the youngest (less than 25 years old) and oldest (over 64 years old) patients had the greatest rates of in-hospital mortality.¹²¹ Older LVAD recipients have higher risks of complications and mortality, however older heart transplant recipients had similar rates of survival as younger recipients.¹²²

Structural Barriers

A multitude of factors affect any person's access to healthcare services, although certain barriers are considered the result of systemic biases that have existed for hundreds of years. Scientists as far back as the 1600s have contributed to the myth of White male superiority, with the publication of the first scientific article on racial classifications and has continued over the

centuries.²⁵ The Atlantic slave trade, together with European colonization and Eurocentrism, were global events that has seemingly limitless repercussions on racial, class, and economic disparities to the present day.¹²³ In the American English colonies, the health system was formed on an inherently biased structure based on race and class.²⁵ The hierarchy against non-White persons, immigrants, and women in the scientific and medical arenas persisted into the 20th century with those populations being excluded or marginalized by the healthcare systems. The move toward desegregation in healthcare culminated with the Civil Rights Act of 1964¹²⁴ but this did not end discrimination. Racial, ethnic, gender, and class-based biases and inequities have prevented minorities from accumulating wealth, inhibited access to care, and created gaps in health status and outcomes. These divides have been promoted by limitations in government funding for Medicare and Medicaid.

Unraveling healthcare discrimination from the disproportionate poverty levels¹²⁵ and uninsured rates⁴⁶ in racial and ethnic minorities is difficult if not impossible. Income rates as of 2019 for Black households was 60% of that of White households, and Hispanic households had an income rate 74% of that of White households.¹²⁵ As stated in the 2008 documentary, Unnatural Causes, wealth equals health.¹²⁶ The two are inextricably linked in the United States, with income affecting access to housing, neighborhoods, employment, transportation, childcare, schools, and hospitals. The disparities will be passed to the next generation, with even wider income inequality and less opportunity for mobility in future generations, a phenomenon called The Great Gatsby Curve.¹²⁷ While accounting for systemic inequality is outside of the scope of this research, it is important to keep in mind the factors influencing the current inequities in access to healthcare services.

Ethics

In the United States, organ allocation is based on algorithms determined by UNOS policy-making practices.¹²⁸ The allocation algorithms take into account efficiency and equity, which are required for organ distribution by Federal law.⁴ These two terms are equivalent to the ethical principles of utility and justice.⁸⁴ When it comes to organ allocation, utility is commonly thought of as medical benefit and refers to allocation practices that maximize the benefit to patient as well as the whole community while also reducing harms.¹²⁹ Therefore in this case, utility combines the principles of beneficence and nonmaleficence. OPTN considers the principle of justice, defined as the fair distribution of benefits and burdens, to be equally important to the principle of utility in organ allocation.¹²⁹ While donated organs should be allocated to maximize overall good, ethicists such as Robert M. Veatch and Lainie F. Ross argue that when it comes to scarce resource allocation, justice has moral authority over utility.⁸⁴ According to Veatch and Ross, just and morally correct distribution follows a pattern of equal access. A notable interpretation of the principle of justice has been made by John Rawls, ¹³⁰ whose egalitarian view of justice allows for a redistribution of goods to maximize the potential advantage for the most disadvantaged persons. This view avoids making distributive decisions based on arbitrary characteristics, such as social or economic advantage, accident of birth, or natural talents.¹³¹ The equitable, or just, distribution of goods to promote the maximum advantage for the worst-off persons is distinct from the equal distribution of goods. Therefore, equitable distribution requires that we account for the principle of justice.

Since equity in allocation is agreed upon for the distribution of both transplant and LVAD AHF services, the current research theorizes that the concept of justice should be just as important in the distribution of healthcare services before a patient is ever evaluated for AHF

therapies. The UNOS and OPTN policies, which are required to be efficient and equitable, only apply to patients that are determined to be eligible for transplantation. However, if a patient never has the opportunity to be evaluated by an AHF specialist, or even be referred for an appointment, inequity in allocation is already present before allocation ever occurs. Therefore, in order to improve disparities in the health, the practices leading up to heart transplant candidacy must also be equitable.

The structural barriers described above contribute to the disadvantage of certain populations, such as those lacking financial resources, and promote inequity in allocation. The strong association between race and poverty described above perpetuates the withholding of transplants from disadvantaged populations.¹³² The current practices reveal that justice is not weighed equally in the current policies and practices promoted by UNOS and OPTN.

Another area of ethical concern is the variability in eligibility rules and evaluation practices between providers and institutions which may create inconsistent and inequitable organ allocation. There is limited information on how psychosocial evaluations vary between transplant programs, and what is available is from the early 1990s.^{133,134} Unfortunately, that data is likely outdated due to being is approximately 30 years old. While it is presumed institutions are abiding by the guidelines issued by ISHLT and other organizations, there is no overarching requirement in place. Cahn-Fuller and Parent have questioned the extent to which transplant programs follow the recommendations from ISHLT and other professional associations.⁹⁹

Disparity in treatment due to variations in rules is problematic, especially for the allocation of scarce resources. One negative impact from this variability in practices is that it encourages patients with sufficient resources to be evaluated for advanced therapy at more than one transplant center. Such "shopping" ⁸⁹ for transplant programs creates disparities in access to

donated organs. Further, the principle of justice is abandoned as these practices create an unfair advantage for patients with a higher socioeconomic status. Therefore, calls have been made for a standard set of selection criteria to avoid such variation.⁹⁹

Reciprocity of the donor pool is an important area to consider when examining the evaluation practices leading up to the allocation of donated organs. Various groups, including psychiatric patients⁹⁹ and the uninsured,²⁶ contribute to the donor pool but may not be eligible should they ever medically require one. Asking a population to contribute to the donor pool when they would be considered ineligible violates the principle of justice.²⁶ These populations deserve access to organs when in need and there is a moral obligation to fairly consider these populations if they are in need of an organ. Donated organs are a public resource, and altruistic organ donors expect that organs will be distributed equitably.²⁶

While inequities exist throughout the healthcare system, the need for a just assessment of heart failure patients at each step in the evaluation process is amplified when looking through the lens of organ scarcity. The proposed research argues that since practices surrounding the distribution of donor hearts must be just, so should the evaluations process of patients who one day may need the services of an AHF team. Judgments about a patient's social worth should be avoided.⁹⁹

Summary

For some patients with AHF, the only medical option is a life-saving heart transplant or LVAD. A patient with AHF must go through an extensive evaluation process in order to be determined eligible for such advanced therapies. Demographic, social, and economic factors all play a role in that determination process. When these factors play a role in the eligibility for AHF

therapies, healthcare resources are not distributed equitably. While some of the factors playing a role in eligibility have been researched, there are likely unseen factors beyond the scope of this research that also contribute and have not been properly captured and analyzed. Understanding whether certain factors affect a patient's ability to receive services earlier in their disease trajectory, just after they display heart failure symptoms and receive a diagnosis, is the basis of the proposed research.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Approach

This is a retrospective chart review of electronic medical records (EMR) available at a large, Midwest hospital system over a four-year period. This study investigated how demographic, social, and economic factors influence the referral of patients for advanced heart failure services and whether those factors affect if patients are seen in the heart failure clinic. The study also assessed if those factors affect the length of time between diagnosis and referral, clinic visit, treatment, and/or death.

Study Population

Adult patients from one large, Midwest hospital system who were diagnosed with heart failure by a provider in the inpatient or outpatient setting, were eligible for this retrospective chart review. Patients were identified by the presence of heart failure diagnosis codes from the 10th edition of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) in the hospital system's EMR. Patients with ICD-10 codes for heart failure (142.8 [Other cardiomyopathies], I50.20 [Unspecified systolic heart failure], I50.22 [Chronic systolic heart failure], I50.23 [Acute on chronic systolic heart failure], I50.33 [Acute on chronic diastolic heart failure], I50.42 [Chronic combined systolic and diastolic heart failure], and I50.43 [Acute on chronic combined systolic and diastolic heart failure], and I50.43 [Acute on chronic combined systolic heart failure]) between the dates of November 1, 2017 through December 31, 2021 were included in the study. This time frame was chosen to align with the switch of EMR to Epic¹³⁵ at our hospital system in November 2017, and the end date aligns with the approximate date of IRB approval. Patient identifiers were not collected except for dates of service.

Therefore, this study received a waiver of patient consent as well as a HIPAA waiver due to the non-human subjects determination by the Spectrum Health Institutional Review Board (#2022-034) and the Western Michigan University Institutional Review Board (#2022-096).

Study Design

Demographic, social, and economic data was retrieved by retrospective chart review. To comply with Spectrum Health research guidelines, data was pulled from the EMR by a specified Spectrum Health Office of Research employee, called the honest broker. "Honest broker" is a term used by the Office for Human Research Protections, within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, and is defined as a neutral intermediary person or system that collects patient information, replaces the identifiers with a code, and then releases only coded information to the researcher.¹³⁶ The Spectrum Health honest broker has specific access to the institutional data warehouse, containing all patient medical record data from the EMR software, Epic. The honest broker fulfilled the data acquisition from this retrospective review by retrieving the requested data from the data warehouse, removing all identifiers except dates of service, and saving in password-protected Microsoft Excel files. The Microsoft Excel files were shared with the investigator who completed the data cleaning and statistical analysis.

The independent variables selected for this study were based on the above literature review and specific research questions. Social history and social determinants of health information (such as employment status, number of children, years of education, highest education level, alcohol use, drug use, financial resource strain, food insecurity, lack of transportation [medical or non-medical], physical activity, stress, social connections, depression, and housing stability) collected from patients either at their primary care office or in the inpatient

setting should be entered into the EMR; however according to preliminary data queries by an honest broker, the data for these fields is rarely entered. Smoking status was the only variable from the social determinants of health documentation that was sufficiently available to include in this study.

Independent variables collected from the Demographic section of the EMR include age, sex, race, preferred language, and marital status. As stated above, smoking status was collected from the social history and social determinants of health sections of the EMR. Type of insurance was obtained from the EMR documentation. The above variables were captured at the time of heart failure diagnosis. The categories of some variables had to be combined due to small sample sizes and to reduce the risk of identification. For the variable, marital status, the categories married and significant other were combined into one group, and the categories divorced, legally separated, single, widowed were combined into one "unmarried" group, and patients with unknown marital status were marked as missing. The category, "Other", in the race/ethnicity variable, included such categories as American Indian, Alaskan Native, Asian Indian, Asian or Pacific Islander, Asian not Hispanic, Chinese, Filipino, Japanese, Multiracial, native Hawaiian, and Other. The "patient refused/unreported" patients were marked as missing. Preferred language was categorized into English and non-English language. The category, current smoker, included patients recorded as current cigarette, cigar, and/or pipe smokers in the EMR, while non-smokers included both never-smokers and former smokers. Public insurance included both Medicare and Medicaid.

The dependent variables, referral AHF specialist, clinic visit with AHF specialist, heart transplantation, LVAD implantation, 1 year mortality, and in-house mortality (post heart transplant or LVAD) were obtained by electronic abstraction by the honest broker. Dates of

diagnosis, referral, first clinic visit, heart transplantation, and LVAD implantation required for the survival analysis were all be electronically abstracted from the EMR.

Analytical Framework

A total of 24,258 patients diagnosed with heart failure from one Midwest hospital system were included in this research. Independent variables include age, sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type. Dependent variables include referral to advanced heart failure services, clinic visit with advanced heart failure specialist, treatment by either heart transplantation or LVAD, and mortality (1-year mortality post-diagnosis; 1-year mortality post-treatment; or mortality during hospital stay of heart transplant or LVAD implantation). For all analyses, values of $p \le 0.05$ were considered statistically significant for all tests. The ANOVA, Chi Square, and Cox proportional hazards analyses were conducted in SPSS and the Logistic Regression was performed in R for SPSS.¹³⁷

The following research questions will be investigated by statistical analysis: 1.) Do patients who were diagnosed with heart failure and referred for AHF services differ from patients diagnosed with heart failure and were not referred with regards to demographic, social, and economic factors; 2.) Do patients who were referred and had a clinic visit with an AHF specialist differ from patients referred but did not have a clinic visit with regards to demographic, social, and economic factors; 3.) Do patients who had a clinic visit and received AHF treatment (transplant and LVAD) differ from patients who had a clinic visit and did not receive AHF treatment? and 4.) Does the length of time from diagnosis to referral, diagnosis to clinic visit, diagnosis to treatment, and/or diagnosis to death differ based on demographic, social, and economic variables?

Statistical Analysis Plan

- 1.) Research Question One
 - a. Independent Variable(s)
 - Patients who were referred visit will be compared to the patients who did were not referred based on age, sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type
 - b. Dependent Variable
 - i. Referral to advanced heart failure clinic

ANOVA will be used for the continuous variable, age

Chi Squared test will be used for categorical variables: sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type

- 2.) Research Question Two:
 - a. Independent Variable(s)
 - Patients who had a clinic visit will be compared to the patients who did not have a clinic visit based on age, sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type
 - b. Dependent Variables
 - i. Clinic visit with advanced heart failure specialist

ANOVA will be used for the continuous variable, age

Chi squared test will be used for categorical variables: sex, race, preferred

language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type

- 3.) Research Question Three:
 - a. Independent Variable(s)

- Patients who received advanced heart failure treatment (transplant and LVAD) will be compared to the patients who did not receive treatment based on age, sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type
- b. Dependent Variables
 - i. Advanced heart failure treatment (either heart transplant or LVAD)
 - ii. Heart transplantation only
 - iii. LVAD implantation only

ANOVA will be used for the continuous variable, age

Chi squared test will be used for categorical variables: sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type

- 4.) Research Question Four:
 - a. Time to event analysis: A Cox proportional hazards model will be used for the time to event analysis. Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals will be reported.
 - i. Independent variables:
 - A sensitivity analysis¹³⁸ will be included in Research Question
 The sensitivity analysis (as follows) will reveal if there are hidden suppressor variables that did not show up as significant in Research Questions 1-3 or if there is no or little influence on the conclusions of Research Questions 1-3, which would provide more robust conclusions.

- a. First, only the independent variables that were found to be significant in Research Question 1, 2, and 3 will be examined evaluated by Cox proportional hazards model.
- b. Next, all independent variables (age, sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type) will be assessed in a Cox proportional hazards model.
- ii. Dependent variables
 - 1. Survival analysis will be used to evaluate:
 - a. time from diagnosis to referral
 - b. time from diagnosis to clinic visit
 - c. time from diagnosis to advanced heart failure treatment
- b. Mortality
 - i. Independent Variables
 - A sensitivity analysis will be done similarly as described in Research Question 4. First, only the independent variables that were found to be significant in Research Question 1, 2, and 3 will be examined by Logistic Regression
 - Next, all independent variables ((age, sex, race, preferred language, marital status, smoking status, and insurance type) will be assessed by Logistic regression.

- a. Death within one year post heart failure diagnosis
 (yes/no)
- b. Death before discharge from heart transplant or LVAD implant hospital stay (yes/no)
- c. Death within 1 year of heart transplant or LVAD implant (yes/no)

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

There were 24,258 patients diagnosed with heart failure included in the analysis (Figure 1). The mean age was 71.47 and ages ranged from 18 to 106 years old (Table 1). Patients were mostly male (58.7%), married (51.5%), White (88.1%), had preferred language listed as English (98.6%), and had public insurance coverage (81.2%). Of the 7,238 patients with smoking data available, 1982 (8.2%) were current smokers at the time of diagnosis. Of the patients diagnosed with heart failure, 617 (2.5%) had a date of referral to see a heart failure specialist documented in the EMR.

Referral

A total of 617 patients received an AHF referral. Research question 1 compared the independent variables between the referral group and non-referral group (Table 2). The ANOVA analysis revealed that patients referred to an advanced heart failure specialist were younger than patients who were not referred (mean age 57.84 vs 71.83, p<0.001). Over twice as many men were referred, with 3.2% of the men and 1.5% of the women with heart failure having a referral (p<0.001). Married patients were more likely to be referred than the unmarried patients (2.9% vs. 2.1% respectively, p<0.001). Race was significantly associated with referral (p<0.001), with White (2.3%) and Hispanic/Latino patients (2.4%) showing less referrals than Black patients (4.3%) or patients in Other racial categories (4.8%). There was no difference in referral based on preferred language (p<0.828) or smoking status (p=0.057). Insurance category was associated with referral (p<0.001), with the most referred category being the publicly insured, followed by



Figure 1. Flowchart of patients diagnosed with heart failure

privately insured, then self-pay (Table 2). Since zero of the 7 patients in the Other insurance category were referred, this category was removed from the analysis.

Variable	Category	Mean ± Std dev. or
		N (%)
Age (years)		71.47 ± 14.244
		Min – Max 18 - 106
Sex	Female	10019 (41.3)
	Male	14239 (58.7)
Marital Status	Divorced	2962 (12.2)
	Married	12483 (51.5)
	Other/Unknown	289 (1.2)
	Single	3386 (14.0)
	Widowed	5138 (21.2)
Race/ethnicity	Black or African American	1573 (6.5)
	Hispanic/Latino	546 (2.3)
	Other	400 (1.6)
	Patient refused/not reported	379 (1.6)
	White or Caucasian, not Hispanic	21360 (88.1)
Preferred Language	English	23925 (98.6)
	Other/Unknown	333 (1.4)
Current smoker	Yes	1982 (8.2)
	No	5256 (21.7)
	Unknown	17020 (70.2)
Insurance	Other	7 (0.001)
	Private	3977 (16.4)
	Public	19703 (81.2)
	Self-pay	571 (2.4)

Table 1. Summary of baseline characteristics for all patients diagnosed with heart failure

A Cox proportional hazards model (Research question 4a) compared the interval from diagnosis to referral for the variables that were significant in the ANOVA and Chi square analyses above. The overall model showed significance; at least one independent variable was predictive of referral (Table 3). Age showed a B coefficient of -0.62 and Exp(B) of 0.940, meaning each year a person ages, there is 6% less likelihood of them being referred for treatment (95%CI [0.934, 0.946]). The model revealed men were over 200% as likely as women to be referred (B coefficient = 0.772; HR 2.165 [95% CI 1.746, 2.686]). Unmarried patients were less than half as likely to be referred (B coefficient = -0.451; HR 0.637 [0.523, 0.776]) and the

		Referred	Not referred	
Variable	Category	Mean \pm Std.	Mean \pm Std.	p value
		Dev.	Dev.	
		or N (%)	or N (%)	
Age		$57.84 \pm$	$71.83 \pm$	< 0.001
		12.448	14.113	
Sex	Female	155 (1.5)	9864 (98.5)	< 0.001
	Male	462 (3.2)	13777 (96.8)	
Marital Status	Married/Significant other	367 (2.9)	12116 (97.1)	< 0.001
	Divorced/Legally	236 (2.1)	97.9 (23366)	
	Separated/Single/Widowed			
Race/ethnicity	Black or African American	67 (4.3)	1506 (95.7)	< 0.001
	Hispanic/Latino	13 (2.4)	533 (97.6)	
	Other	19 (4.8)	381 (95.3)	
	White or Caucasian, not	496 (2.3)	20864 (97.7)	
	Hispanic			
Preferred	English	608 (2.5)	23317 (97.5)	0.828
Language	-			
	Spanish	4 (2.2)	175 (97.8)	
	Other/Unknown	5 (3.2)	149 (96.8)	
Current smoker	Yes	56 (2.8)	1926 (97.2)	0.057
	No	197 (3.7)	5059 (96.3)	
Insurance	Private	164 (4.1)	3813 (95.9)	< 0.001
	Public	437 (2.2)	19266 (97.8)	
	Self-pay	16 (2.8)	555 (97.2)	

Table 2. Patients referred to an advanced heart failure specialist compared to patients not referred

publicly insured were nearly 30% more likely to be referred than the privately insured (B coefficient = 0.261; HR 1.298 [95% CI 1.038, 1.623]).

In the sensitivity analysis including all independent variables, the overall model was once again significant. In this model, younger age (B coefficient = -0.68; HR 0.934 [95% CI 0.925, 0.943]), male sex (B coefficient = 0.796; HR 2.216 [95% CI 1.544, 3.181]), and married status ([Reference variable Unmarried] B coefficient = -.408; HR 0.665 [95%CI 0.488, 0.905]) were contributing to referral. This model additionally revealed that current smokers were half as likely (B coefficient = -0.599; HR 0.549 [95% CI 0.389, 0.776]) to be referred (Table 3).

Variable Name	В	SE	P value	Exp (B)	95% CI	95% CI
				- • •	Lower	Upper
Cox regression inclu	ding vari	ables signi	ficant in AN	OVA and C	hi square an	alyses
Overall Omnibus	Chi sq	uare score				
Tests of Model	55	9.651	<.001			
Coefficients						
Age	062	.003	<.001	.940	.934	.946
Sex (Male)	.772	.110	<.001	2.165	1.746	2.686
Marital Status	451	.100	<.001	.637	.523	.776
(Unmarried)						
Race (White)	.		.360			
Race (Black/African	.045	.149	.763	1.046	.781	1.401
American)			0.0.4		2 0 7	1.050
Race	556	.322	.084	.574	.305	1.078
(Hispanic/Latino)	0.42	244	070	1.044	(20)	1.7(0)
Race (Other)	.043	.266	.870	1.044	.620	1.760
Insurance Status			.0/3			
(Private)	2(1	114	022	1 20.9	1.020	1 (22
Insurance Status	.261	.114	.022	1.298	1.038	1.623
(Public)	170	202	529	1 106	(9(2 094
Insurance Status (Sell-	.1/9	.283	.328	1.190	.080	2.084
Pay)	4:::4	levele in also	ding all inda		:-blag	
Cox regression sensi	Chi ca	IYSIS INCIU	aing an inde	pendent var	ladies	
Tests of Model	Chi sq		< 0.01			
Coefficients	22	2.488	<.001			
	068	005	< 001	03/	025	0/13
Age Sev (Male)	008	184	< 001	2 216	1 544	3 181
Marital Status	- 408	158	<.001	665	488	905
(Unmarried)	+00	.150	.010	.005	.400	.905
Race (White)			386			
Race (Black/African	048	240	.500	1 049	655	1 681
American)	.010	.210	.011	1.019	.000	1.001
Race	930	.720	.196	.395	.096	1.618
(Hispanic/Latino)	.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	.,		1030		11010
Race (Other)	.386	.359	.282	1.471	.728	2.970
Preferred Language	.467	1.037	.653	1.594	.209	12.174
(English)						
Smoking Status	599	.176	<.001	.549	.389	.776
(Current)						
Insurance Status			.081			
(Private)						
Insurance Status	.312	.191	.103	1.366	.939	1.985
(Public)						
Insurance Status (Self-	852	.727	.241	.427	.103	1.774
Pay)						

Table 3. Time from diagnoses to referral assessed by Cox proportional hazards model

Clinic Visit with Advanced Heart Failure Specialist

As assessed in Research Question 2, 409 of the referred patients had a clinic visit with an advanced heart failure specialist. A Chi Square test demonstrated that 70.3% of married patients had a clinic visit with an advanced heart failure specialist while 61.4% of unmarried patients had a clinic visit (p=0.024, Table 4). Smoking was also associated with having a clinic visit, with a higher proportion of non-smokers being seen by a specialist (70.0%) compared to the proportion of smokers (55.4%, p=0.39). Age, sex, race/ethnicity preferred language, and insurance status were not associated with having a clinic visit (Table 4).

		Clinic visit	No clinic	
Variable	Category	Mean \pm Std.	visit	p value
		Dev.	Mean \pm Std.	-
		or N (%)	Dev.	
			or N (%)	
Age		$57.49 \pm$	58.52 ±	0.332
-		12.591	12.163	
Sex	Female	104 (67.1)	51 (32.9)	0.806
	Male	305 (66.0)	157 (34.0)	
Marital Status	Married	258 (70.3)	109 (29.7)	0.024
	Divorced/Legally	145 (61.4)	91 (38.6)	
	Separated/Single/Widowed			
Race/ethnicity	Black or African American	44 (65.7)	23 (34.3)	0.091
	Hispanic/Latino	10 (76.9)	3 (23.1)	
	Other	8 (42.1)	11 (57.9)	
	White or Caucasian, not	340 (68.5)	156 (31.5)	
	Hispanic			
Preferred	English	403 (66.3)	205 (33.7)	0.981
Language				
	Other/Unknown	6 (66.7)	3 (33.3)	
Current smoker	Yes	31 (55.4)	25 (44.6)	0.039
	No	138 (70.0)	59 (30.0)	
Insurance	Private	107 (65.2)	57 (34.8)	0.338
	Public	294 (67.3)	143 (32.7)	
	Self-pay	8 (50.0)	8 (50.0)	

Table 4. Patients with a clinic visit compared to patients without a clinic visit

A Cox proportional hazards model (Research Question 4a) assessed time from diagnosis to clinic visit for the variables which were significant in the above Chi Square analysis assessing patients receiving a clinic visit versus those who did not. Marital status (B coefficient -0.179; HR 0.836 [95% CI 0.597, 1.172]) and smoking status (B coefficient = -0.272; HR 0.762 [95% CI 0.506, 1.146]) showed no association with clinic visit (Table 5). When all independent variables were included in the sensitivity analysis, the overall model did not show significance (Table 5). However, younger age was shown to contribute to patients receiving a clinic visit (B coefficient = -0.20; HR 0.981 [95% CI 0.966, 0.995]). The hazard ratio of 0.981 predicts that with each year of age, there is a 2% less chance of having a clinic visit.

Advanced Heart Failure Therapies

For Research Question 3, patients that had a clinic visit were evaluated for whether or not they received advanced heart failure therapies such as heart transplantation of LVAD. When the treatment category was combined with both heart transplant and LVAD recipients (n = 111), the ANOVA and Chi square analyses showed no difference in any of the independent variables between who received a treatment and who did not receive a treatment (not shown). The Cox proportional hazards model assessing time from diagnosis to either treatment included all independent variables as none were significant in the ANOVA and Chi square analysis above. The overall model showed significance and at least one independent variable was predictive of treatment. Age and Hispanic/Latino ethnicity both contributed to patients receiving a heart failure treatment, with each year of age decreasing likelihood of treatment by 4% (B coefficient = -0.041; HR 0.960 [95% CI 0.929, 0.991]) and Hispanic/Latino patients were more likely to receive treatment that White patients (B coefficient = 2.161; HR 8.682 [1.475, 51.09]) (Table 6).

Variable Name	В	SE	P value	Exp (B)	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper
Cox regression inclu	ding vari	ables signi	ficant in AN	OVA and C	hi square an	alyses
Overall Omnibus	Chi sq	lare score				
Tests of Model	2	.674	.263			
Coefficients						
Marital Status	179	.172	.298	.836	.597	1.172
(Unmarried)						
Smoking Status	272	.208	.192	.762	.506	1.146
(Current)						
Cox regression sensi	tivity ana	lysis inclu	ding all inde	ependent var	iables	
Overall Omnibus	Chi sq	lare score				
Tests of Model	16	5.559	.085			
Coefficients						
Age	020	.008	.010	.981	.966	.995
Sex (Male)	.256	.220	.244	1.292	.839	1.988
Marital Status	185	.189	.328	.831	.573	1.204
(Unmarried)						
Race (White)			.173			
Race (Black/African	455	.283	.108	.634	.364	1.105
American)						
Race	.944	.788	.231	2.571	.548	12.057
(Hispanic/Latino)						
Race (Other)	421	.486	.386	.656	.253	1.701
Preferred Language	.684	1.134	.546	1.982	.215	18.305
(English)						
Smoking Status	268	.213	.208	.765	.504	1.161
(Current)						
Insurance Status			.259			
(Private)						
Insurance Status	.165	.230	.474	1.179	.751	1.851
(Public)						
Insurance Status (Self-	.997	.615	.105	2.710	.811	9.051
Pay)						

Table 5. Time from diagnosis to clinic visit assessed by Cox proportional hazards model

When assessing heart transplant alone (n = 57), ANOVA demonstrated age was significantly associated with receiving a heart transplant, with a mean age of those receiving a heart of 53.06 and those not receiving an organ of 58.31 (p=0.002, Table 7). A higher proportion of females (23.1%) than males (13.1%) received heart transplants (p=0.016). Privately insured patients were more likely to receive a heart transplant, with a proportion of 23.4% receiving a

Variable Name	В	SE	P value	Exp (B)	95% CI	95% CI			
					Lower	Upper			
Cox regression sensit	Cox regression sensitivity analysis including all independent variables								
Overall Omnibus	Chi squ	are score							
Tests of Model	19	.581	0.033						
Coefficients									
Age	041	.016	.012	.960	.929	.991			
Sex (Male)	.538	.523	.303	1.712	.615	4.771			
Marital Status	004	.355	.990	.996	.497	1.996			
(Unmarried)									
Race (White)			.109						
Race (Black/African	308	.759	.685	.735	.166	3.255			
American)									
Race	2.161	.904	.017	8.682	1.475	51.090			
(Hispanic/Latino)									
Race (Other)	075	.999	.941	.928	.131	6.572			
Preferred Language	2.038	1.339	.128	7.675	.556	105.939			
(English)									
Smoking Status	306	.427	.474	.737	.319	1.700			
(Current)									
Insurance Status			.425						
(Private)									
Insurance Status	571	.437	.191	.565	.240	1.329			
(Public)									
Insurance Status	-	520.808	.982	.000	.000				
(Self-Pay)	11.987								

Table 6. Time from diagnosis to AHF treatment assessed by Cox proportional hazards model

heart, while 13.3% of the publicly insured and no self-pay heart recipients (p=0.023).

Time from diagnosis to transplant alone was also assessed, and the Cox proportional hazards model was significant with at least one predictor of referral (Table 8). Age (B coefficient = -0.21; HR 0.980 [95% CI 0.961, 0.998]), White race (p=0.042), Hispanic/Latino ethnicity (B coefficient = 1.504; HR 4.501 [95% CI 1.574, 12.875]), and both public (B coefficient = -0.758; HR 0.468 [95% CI 0.270, 0.813]) and private insurance (p=0.027) were significantly influencing the outcome heart transplantation. For the heart transplantation sensitivity analysis assessing all independent variables in the Cox proportional hazards model, the model was once again

		Heart	No heart	
Variable	Category	transplant	transplant	p value
		Mean \pm Std.	Mean \pm Std.	-
		Dev.	Dev.	
		or N (%)	or N (%)	
Age		$53.06 \pm$	$58.31 \pm$	0.002
-		13.140	12.33	
Sex	Female	24 (23.1)	80 (76.9)	0.016
	Male	40 (13.1)	265 (86.9)	
Marital Status	Married	43 (16.7)	215 (83.3)	0.446
	Divorced/Legally	20 (13.8)	125 (86.2)	
	Separated/Single/Widowed			
Race/ethnicity	Black or African American	5 (11.4)	39 (88.6)	0.048
	Hispanic/Latino	4 (40.0)	6 (60.0)	
	Other	3 (37.5)	5 (62.5)	
	White or Caucasian, not	52 (15.3)	288 (84.7)	
	Hispanic			
Preferred	English	66 (16.3)	340 (83.7)	0.978
Language	-			
	Other/Unknown	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)	
Current	Yes	2 (6.5)	29 (93.5)	0.229
cigarette				
smoker				
	No	20 (14.5)	118 (85.5)	
Insurance	Private	25 (23.4)	82 (76.6)	0.023
	Public	39 (13.3)	255 (86.7)	
	Self-pay	0 (0)	8 (100)	

Table 7. Patients who received heart transplantation compared to patients without transplantation

significant but only age (B coefficient = -0.058; HR 0.943 [95% CI 0.902, 0.987]), White race (p=0.011), and Hispanic/Latino ethnicity (B coefficient = 2.459; HR 11.698 [95% CI 2.191, 62.471]) were significant predictors in the model (Table 8).

When the same factors were assessed for influencing treatment with an LVAD (n=64), no variables were shown to be significantly associated with receiving or not receiving an LVAD in the ANOVA or Chi Square analyses (Table 9). In the Cox proportional hazards model assessing the outcome time to LVAD, the overall model was not significant but White race (p=0.023),

Variable Name	В	SE	P value	Exp (B)	95% CI	95% CI
					Lower	Upper
Cox regression inclu	ding varia	bles signif	icant in AN	OVA and C	hi square an	alyses
Overall Omnibus	Chi squ	are score				
Tests of Model	42	.970	< 0.001			
Coefficients						
Age	021	.010	.034	.980	.961	.998
Sex (Male)	384	.274	.160	.681	.398	1.164
Race (White)			.042			
Race (Black/African	.069	.484	.886	1.072	.415	2.769
American)						
Race	1.504	.536	.005	4.501	1.574	12.875
(Hispanic/Latino)						
Race (Other)	.528	.647	.415	1.695	.476	6.030
Insurance Status			.027			
(Private)		• • •	-	4.60	• - •	
Insurance Status	758	.282	.007	.468	.270	.813
(Public)	11.040		0.67			
Insurance Status (Self-	-11.042	250.646	.965	.000	.000	3.586E+208
Pay)						
Cox regression sensi	tivity anal	ysis includ	ling all inde	pendent var	iables	
Overall Omnibus	Chi squ	are score	0.02			
Tests of Model	28	.476	.002			
Coefficients	0.50		0.1.1	0.40		
Age	058	.023	.011	.943	.902	.987
Sex (Male)	233	.576	.686	.792	.256	2.451
Marital Status	551	.543	.310	.576	.199	1.6/1
(Unmarried)			022			
Race (White) P_{abs} (D1 a_{abs} (A for a_{abs})	(10	1.007	.022	520	064	4 522
Race (Black/African	019	1.087	.369	.539	.064	4.535
American)	2 450	055	004	11 (09	2 101	62 471
(Licensia/Latina)	2.439	.833	.004	11.098	2.191	02.4/1
(Hispanic/Latino) Reco (Other)	1 1 9 /	1 2 1 2	267	206	023	4.015
Race (Other)	-1.104	1.313	.307	.500	.025	4.013
(English)	.211	1.219	.805	1.235	.115	13.4//
(English) Smoking Status	1 474	816	071	220	046	1 134
(Current)	-1.4/4	.010	.071	.229	.040	1.1.54
Insurance Status			831			
(Private)			.051			
Insurance Status	- 333	547	543	717	245	2 096
(Public)		·JT/	.575	• / 1 /	.273	2.070
Insurance Status (Self-	-11.666	552,491	.983	.000	.000	
Pay)	11000		.,			•

Table 8. Time from diagnoses to heart transplantation assessed by Cox proportional hazards model

		LVAD	No LVAD	
Variable	Category	Mean \pm Std.	Mean \pm Std.	p value
		Dev.	Dev.	
		or N (%)	or N (%)	
Age		$58.12 \pm$	$57.39 \pm$	0.683
		12.591	12.777	
Sex	Female	9 (8.7)	95 (91.3)	0.072
	Male	48 (15.7)	257 (84.3)	
Marital Status	Married	37 (14.3)	221 (85.7)	0.730
	Divorced/Legally	19 (13.1)	126 (86.9)	
	Separated/Single/Widowed			
Race/ethnicity	Black or African American	2 (4.5)	42 (95.5)	0.222
	Hispanic/Latino	9 (90.0)	1 (10.0)	
	Other	2 (25.0)	6 (75.0)	
	White or Caucasian, not	50 (14.7)	290 (85.3)	
	Hispanic			
Preferred	English	57 (14.1)	346 (85.9)	0.321
Language				
	Other/Unknown	0 (0)	6 (100)	
Current smoker	Yes	6 (19.4)	25 (80.6)	0.363
	No	18 (13.0)	120 (87.0)	
Insurance	Private	14 (13.1)	93 (86.9)	0.947
	Public	42 (14.3)	252 (85.7)	
	Self-pay	1 (1.3)	7 (8.7)	

Table 9. Patients who received a LVAD compared to patients who did not receive LVAD

LVAD, left ventricular assist device

Hispanic/Latino ethnicity (B coefficient = 3.521; HR 33.833 [95% CI 3.207, 356.968]), and public insurance (B Coefficient = -1.396; HR 0.248 [95% CI 0.077, 0.792]) affected the likelihood of receiving a LVAD (Table 10).

Mortality

In Research Question 4b, Logistic regression analysis was performed to assess 1-year

mortality from the date of diagnosis. In the initial regression model using only variables

significant in the above ANOVA and Chi square analyses, increasing age and Hispanic/Latino

ethnicity were associated with death within 1 year of heart failure diagnosis (Table 11). A second

Variable Name	В	SE	P value	Exp (B)	95% CI	95% CI
					Lower	Upper
Cox regression sens	itivity and	alysis inclu	ding all ind	ependent variab	les	
Overall Omnibus	Chi squ	uare score				
Tests of Model	14	1.641	.146			
Coefficients						
Age	029	.023	.213	.972	.929	1.017
Sex (Male)	2.473	1.438	.085	11.862	.709	198.496
Marital Status	.520	.490	.289	1.681	.644	4.392
(Unmarried)						
Race (White)			.023			
Race	069	1.071	.949	.934	.115	7.613
(Black/African						
American)						
Race	3.521	1.202	.003	33.833	3.207	356.968
(Hispanic/Latino)						
Race (Other)	1.441	1.430	.313	4.227	.257	69.646
Preferred Language	16.662	488.662	.973	17221536.689	.000	
(English)						
Smoking Status	.524	.540	.332	1.689	.586	4.864
(Current)						
Insurance Status			.063			
(Private)						
Insurance Status	-1.396	.593	.019	.248	.077	.792
(Public)						
Insurance Status	-	3166.835	.996	.000	.000	
(Self-Pay)	14.828					

Table 10. Time from diagnosis to LVAD implantation assessed by Cox proportional hazards model

LVAD, left ventricular assist device

logistic regression model including all independent variables from this study revealed that current smoking was an additional predictor of 1-year mortality (Table 11). Death within hospital stay for transplant and LVAD recipients, as well as mortality within one year of receiving each treatment were also assessed, and no independent variables showed significance in any of those models (not shown).

Variable Name	Estimate	SE	Z value	P value
Logistic regression in	cluding variable	es significant i	n ANOVA and Ch	ii square analyses
(Intercept)	-14.1	138.0	102	0.919
Age	0.053	0.003	18.75	< 0.001
Sex (Male)	0.019	0.066	0.294	0.768
Marital Status	0.118	0.062	1.890	0.058
(Unmarried)				
Race (White)	-0.443	0.296	-1.499	0.134
Race (Black/African	-0.576	0.323	-1.786	0.074
American)				
Race	-1.034	0.407	-2.540	0.011
(Hispanic/Latino)				
Race (Other)	-0.494	0.387	-1.276	0.202
Insurance Status	9.50	120.0	0.069	0.045
(Private)		138.0		0.945
Insurance Status	9.27	138.0	0.067	0.946
(Public)				
Insurance Status	10.25	138.0	0.074	0.941
(Self-Pay)				
Logistic regression ser	nsitivity analysi	s including all	independent vari	ables
(Intercept)	-14.36	136.6	-0.105	0.916
Age	0.055	0.003	19.03	< 0.001
Sex (Male)	0.019	0.066	0.284	0.776
Marital Status	0.095	0.063	1.520	0.128
(Unmarried)				
Race (White)	-0.438	0.296	-1.480	0.139
Race (Black/African	-0.580	0.323	-1.795	0.072
American)				
Race	-0.921	0.417	-2.203	0.028
(Hispanic/Latino)				
Race (Other)	-0.421	0.394	-1.071	0.284
Preferred Language	-0.389	0.384	-1.014	0.310
(English)				
Smoking Status	0.254	0.071	3.591	< 0.001
(Current)				
Insurance Status	9.53	136.6	0.070	0.944
(Private)				
Insurance Status	9.31	136.6	0.068	0.946
(Public)				
Insurance Status	10.27	136.6	0.075	0.940
(Self-Pay)				

Table 11. Factors affecting 1-year mortality from date of diagnosis assessed by logistic regression

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Patients diagnosed with heart failure face similar barriers as the patients who go through the extensive evaluation process for AHF therapies. This research investigated potential demographic, social, and economic factors that affect referral to an AHF specialist, whether patients have a clinic visit, and whether they ultimately receive treatment. The results of this investigation as described below emphasize the obstacles patients face with regards to continuity of care and access to healthcare services.

Referrals for AHF Services

Patients with a heart failure diagnosis were more likely to be referred to a heart failure specialist is they were younger, male, or married (Table 2). While there may be age constraints on the eligibility for a heart transplant, the age restrictions have become less strict over the year with more patients over the age of 70 being transplanted.^{139,140} The leadership council of the professional society, American College of Cardiology, has noted that lack of clear guidance for cardiologists and internal medicine physicians on which patients to refer for AHF services has led to delays in referral, often to the point candidacy is no for heart transplantation or LVAD is longer possible.⁶⁶ Age in itself is not a contraindication for either treatment, however increasing age is a predictor of mortality post-heart transplantation.¹⁴⁰ In LVAD recipients over the age of 70, similar 2-year survival and quality of life to younger recipients have been shown.¹⁴¹ Furthermore, other medical, pharmacological, and palliative options should be assessed by an AHF specialist. Previous research has also demonstrated lack of referral for cardiac services for older patients, although the authors note than it is unknown how many patients of advanced age

decline invasive testing and procedures.³⁹ Knowing a person's age alone cannot determine whether or not a patient may benefit from advanced heart failure services and researchers have voiced opinions that even if a patient may be presumed to not benefit from a heart transplant or LVAD, they still deserve a minimum of one expert assessment by a heart failure specialist.¹⁰ This reinforces the ethical claim that equity is needed in referral for AHF services and that younger patients are not selected for in the referral process.

Men were twice as likely to be referred compared to women as shown in both the Chi Square (Table 2) and Cox proportional hazards model (Table 3). The difference in clinical presentation of heart failure in men and women¹⁰⁴ might be thought to contribute to this disparity, however, the percentage of men (58.7%) diagnosed with heart failure was not twice that of women (41.3%) in the overall cohort (Table 1). A well-cited study from 1999 found that even after adjustment for symptoms, clinical characteristics, and disease assigned by the physician, men were more likely to be referred for cardiac catheterization than women.¹⁴² The authors of that study concluded that implicit physician bias was involved in recommendations for chest pain, which in turn affects differences in treatment of cardiovascular disease by sex. Similar factors could be at play in the current study, although the current research did not assess decision-making at the physician level and therefore cannot draw similar conclusions as done in the previous study. Bias could be introduced at one of many steps in the referral process, including recognition of initial symptoms by the provider, when making recommendations, the degree of communication, and the referrer's perception about the patient's suitability for advanced interventions.¹¹ to name a few, and each step warrants future investigation. Unbiased decision-making is an expectation of the American healthcare system and discrimination based on sex or gender violates the just allocation of healthcare services.

According to the Chi square analysis, more referrals occurred for patients in the Black and Other racial/ethnic groups (Table 2), but race did not show significance in either Cox proportional hazards model (Table 3). More referrals in the Black and Other racial/ethnicity categories is an interesting finding because much of literature on various conditions reports inadequate referral and treatment for non-White patients^{29–32,142} A possible theory explaining these findings is the conscious dedication of clinicians to improve their implicit bias. There are many calls in the literature explaining the need for training requirements to help reduce clinician implicit bias.¹⁴³ One of the main solutions, however, is to diversify the provider pool which should be considered a national priority.¹⁴⁴

Patients with public insurance at the time of diagnosis had more referrals, as shown in the Chi Square analysis (Table 2) and was confirmed by the Cox proportional hazards analysis (Table 3). Since inclusion in this study required a diagnosis of heart failure, the patients that never received such a diagnosis were not captured. There are many reasons why a patient who has heart failure may never see a clinician to receive a diagnosis, with lack of appropriate insurance coverage being one main reason. The uninsured have a more difficult time getting the medical care they need, with uninsured persons being less likely to see a clinician after an unintentional injury or presence of a new chronic condition.¹⁴⁵ Health insurance has been shown to not only improve mortality, but also improve self-rated health and reduce likelihood of depression, acting as a gateway to medical care.¹⁴⁶ Improving chronic conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, and metabolic syndrome, which are risk factors for heart failure, is important in reducing disparities in access to AHF services.¹⁴ With over 28 million (8.6%) of Americans recorded as uninsured in the recent Census data,⁴⁶ the preventable health challenges a large portion of our population faces is a major national crisis.
Clinic Visit with AHF Specialist

Once patients had a referral, they were more likely to have a visit with an AHF specialist if they were married. Previous research has found that married patients had more outpatient visits¹⁴⁷ and other research has demonstrated that increased continuity of care reduces hospitalizations.¹⁴⁸ Patients that are married or have a significant other may have the benefit of "marriage protection," which is the idea that married people are healthier, especially men, because of the physical and emotional support a spouse provides.^{147,149} Single and divorced persons, especially men, have been shown to have negative effects on health,¹⁵⁰ and the "bereavement effect" similarly affects widowed patients.^{149,151} While increased clinic visits by married patients may have to do with increased medical adherence in this group, AHF programs should be mindful of processes that could be implemented to improve likelihood of follow through in single patients once a referral is made, which would improve equity of services based on marital status.

Patients that had a clinic visit were also more likely to be nonsmokers, despite no association above between smoking status and referral. Patients that smoke have been shown to have more outpatient visits than non-smokers,¹⁵² but the distinction between primary care visits and specialist visits has not been made. Our study suggests that while a patient that smokes may be seen in an initial visit in which their heart failure was diagnosed, they may not follow through with an appointment with a specialist. Previous research has demonstrated that current smokers are more likely to have incomes below the national poverty level and less likely to have health insurance than former smokers and non-smokers,¹⁵² which would have a direct effect on healthcare utilization. With a number of intersectional characteristics at play, efforts to improve

equity in access to healthcare services is essential to reduce the disparities in follow through with outpatient care.

AHF Treatment

The analysis demonstrated that more stringent criteria are used for heart transplantation eligibility compared to LVAD. When both treatments were combined, the ANOVA and Chi square analyses showed no association with any of the independent variables on whether or not patients received treatment. However, the Cox proportional hazards sensitivity analyses revealed that younger age, White race, and Hispanic ethnicity were associated with treatment. Further analysis revealed that younger age was also associated with whether patents received a heart transplant (Table 8), but not with whether patients received a LVAD (Table 10). As mentioned above, the general guidance is that heart transplant candidates be 70 years of age or less,¹²⁰ although guidelines for LVAD management do not mention an upper cutoff for age.¹⁵³ The most advanced age receiving a transplant was 70 in the current analysis, and 75 was the highest age for LVAD recipients. Adamson et al. has reported ages of LVAD recipients up to 87 years.¹⁴¹

White race and Hispanic ethnicity were associated with receiving any AHF treatment as shown in the Cox proportional hazards models. Further, while no other independent variables showed an effect on receiving an LVAD, the sensitivity analysis once again revealed that White and Hispanic/Latino patients were more likely to receive an LVAD compared to the Black and Other racial category patients (Table 10). Previous research has established that White patients have greater access to healthcare services than other racial and ethnic groups.^{50,142} While Hispanic patients have been noted in the literature to have more cardiovascular risk factors and decreased access to healthcare,¹⁵⁴ the current research showing disparities in treatment suggests

Hispanic patients may be more likely than Black patients or those in Other racial categories to follow through with recommended procedures. This finding may intersect with increased levels of familism and allocentrism in the Hispanic community, which in itself has the potential for positive health implications.¹⁵⁵ In an unpublished study, the authors demonstrated that social support is associated with selection for AHF therapies.¹² Though Hispanic patients were not shown in the current study to have more referrals or more AHF clinic visits than other racial groups, their increased likelihood of treatment may be related to their social support structure. Conversely, the results could be interpreted to illustrate lack of treatment recommendations for patients in the Black and Other racial categories. Reduced access to healthcare services has been repeatedly noted in the literature with regards to Black patients.^{57,142,156}

Additionally, there are many points in the disease trajectory that patients may make decisions that affect their treatment, either intentionally decision-making or unknowingly. For example, patients with cardiac symptoms may not recognize their symptoms⁵⁶ and either avoid or delay care. There may be cultural or spiritual reasons a patient may not choose to see a provider or follow through with planned procedures.²⁸ Or if a patient does see a provider, patients may not trust or accept the assessment or recommendations they are given by a physician.¹¹ Any perceptions of discrimination would impact a patient's decision-making and trust in the medical system, ultimately affecting continuity of care.

It must be noted that race is a social construct and not a biological construct. Members of any racial or ethnic categorization have a wide range of varying socioeconomic and structural barriers present. Even epidemiologists question racial/ethnic categorization of individuals and the utility of the categories relating to public health endeavors.⁴³ Further, the link between race

and systemic and structural racism is undeniable,¹⁵⁷ leading to unequal clinical treatment as explored in this study.

The Chi square showed a higher proportion of females received heart transplants in this study compared to males, even though the number of females transplanted was lower than that of males (Table 7). This finding was not significant in the subsequent Cox proportional hazards models and is inconsistent with what is reported in the literature, as more males receive heart transplants than females on the national level.^{2,140}

The privately insured were also more likely to receive a heart transplant according to the Chi Square results, and both private and public insurance showed significance in the Cox proportional hazards model that included age, sex, race, and insurance status with private insurance having a positive effect on transplantation and public insurance having a negative effect; however, insurance status did not show significance in the sensitivity analysis (Table 8). The insurance requirement for transplantation has been well-documented in the literature^{7,8,26} and support the current findings. The sensitivity analysis, however, implies that other variables in the model, such as age and race, had more of an effect on receiving a transplant than type of insurance.

Mortality

One-year mortality after heart failure diagnosis was associated with increased age and Hispanic/Latino ethnicity (Table 11), but neither variable was significant in the logistic regressions assessing 1-year survival post-transplant and post-LVAD. Therefore, the older patients that were dying within one year of diagnosis were those that did not receive AHF therapies. Older patients are more likely to have other comorbidities which would affect

mortality. However, this study suggests patients that lack of referral and eligibility for advanced heart failure services affects patient mortality in the advanced age group.

The higher mortality rates of Hispanic/Latino patients in the whole cohort but not in the treatment groups likewise suggests that lack of referral and visit with an AHF specialist contributes mortality. It is also possible that patients may turn down services once eligible, due to cultural or spiritual beliefs that impact decision-making.²⁸

The sensitivity analysis also revealed that smoking was associated with 1-year mortality post-heart failure diagnosis. Smoking is a leading cause of preventable disease, with over 480,000 deaths attributable to smoking per year, and contributes to cardiovascular disease through various mechanisms.¹⁵⁸ It was surprising that smoking did not show as a significant predictor for AHF treatment, and even more surprising was the two patients recorded as current smokers who received heart transplants. This was likely an artifact of using baseline data; even though the patients were smokers at the time of diagnosis, they likely stopped by the time they were selected for transplant candidacy.

Limitations and Future Research

The current study investigated the demographic, social, and economic variables available through the electronic data pulls at one hospital system. While additional variables would make the study more robust, they were not available for most patients. Therefore, this research provides a limited view of the factors influencing the referral and care trajectory in heart failure patients. Further, this research does not take into account medical factors that may contribute to differences in referral and treatment. For example, some providers may not refer patients to specialists due to presence of certain comorbidities. The factors affecting referral outside of the

independent variables examined in this study were not evaluated. Future research should include looking at the medical reasons that contribute to lack of referral. Also, this research does not take into account changes in insurance coverage over the course of the patient's heart failure disease trajectory, or for changes in any of the other independent variables. All non-English languages were categorized together due to limitations with sample size. Preferred language did not influence referral, clinic visit, treatment, or mortality in any of the analyses above, which may be an artifact of this grouping.

Future research on referrals data should also include multicenter data from various geographic locations. Guidelines for referral and treatment vary across AHF programs, so differences between institutions would be interesting to understand.

Epidemiological research inherently makes claims about social differences, such as race, gender, and class. The literature review attempts to delve into some of these wrongful claims but is not comprehensive in doing so. Additionally, the current research did not examine the difference between race and gender, due to the insufficient availability of information beyond "male" and "female" in the dataset. When data is available, accounting for gender is important in understanding additional barriers affecting access to AHF services. Researchers should be mindful of their use of labels as they can exacerbate social inequalities.⁴³

Notably, this research does not take into account the many structural barriers in place affecting referral, both before and after a heart failure diagnosis is made. Access to a provider to make the initial heart failure diagnosis often requires insurance coverage as well as the work flexibility, feasibility with geographic proximity, assistance with any caregiving responsibilities, and transportation to visit a provider. Without insurance or a means to pay for healthcare, patients may avoid having doctors' visits and therefore are never captured in medical datasets.

This is in part due to employment-based insurance coverage in the United States, which contributes to the disparities in health between patients with more or less means as patients may choose not to pay for health insurance or healthcare entirely due to the prohibitive costs. These structural barriers are outside the scope of this investigation.

Interdisciplinary Research

AHF services require interdisciplinary collaboration between clinical and non-clinical professionals from varying fields. The trajectory from heart failure diagnosis to treatment is complex and unique for each patient. Patients diagnosed with heart failure may meet with professionals in upwards of 10 different disciplines. Therefore, the findings of this investigation are of interest to a multidisciplinary audience and have implications for changes at the level of transplant programs, hospital systems, state government, and federal government entities.

This research synthesized the clinical, ethical, and political aspects of AHF treatment as well as access to healthcare services as whole. The allocation of donor organs is a complex process, rich with moral underpinnings and medical requirements. Therefore, any investigation involving transplant practices requires an ethical perspective. The allocation system is based on policies which are influenced both by clinical outcomes and justice in distribution. The same approach should be considered for all healthcare services, as justice is needed to increase equity in care at the primary care and outpatient level.

Recommendations

Clinical and Health System Recommendations

Tools and guidance are needed in order for primary care physicians and cardiologists to appropriately refer patients to an AHF specialist. An electronic algorithm within the EMR to alert physicians in a timely manner when certain criteria are met has been developed,¹⁵⁹ however, the exact criteria needs further development. In the system reported by Evans et al, a patient aged 80 years old or older would not elicit a prompt in the system for AHF referral.¹⁵⁹ Additional research is needed to identify evidence-based guidelines for referral. Timely referral is an important consideration when developing future guidelines.

Cultural training to improve implicit bias in clinicians is an important component of improving equity in access to AHF services. Including such training as part of the medical school curriculum and as continuing education for practicing clinicians is essential to improve access and health outcomes. Many publications have recommended cultural competency training to improve patient-provider relations.^{11,25,27,28,37,154,160}

Health systems should be aware of systems in place that may incentivize clinicians to promote disparities in access.²⁵ Clinician should be rewarded for their invaluable effort and expertise but doing so at the detriment of vulnerable populations must be avoided and practices that reduce barriers should be rewarded. Further, diversifying the workforce of health professionals will have vast benefits on healthcare equity.

Policy Recommendations

Insurance coverage through Medicaid should be available to all patients in need of organ transplantation in the United States. Medicare currently requires a 20% copay for heart

transplantation.¹⁶¹ Universal insurance coverage would certainly improve equity in transplantation, and it is interesting to consider the effects on organ donation that might occur if the government provided this service to the nation. State and federal representatives should be assessing areas of inequity in healthcare delivery and looking for available funds to help with solutions. This should also include healthcare coverage that encourages outpatient visits and continuity of care, which would improve access to care as well as health outcomes.

As mentioned above, CMS requires transplant programs to report institutional outcomes through UNOS in order to monitor performance and maintain CMS coverage. This practice may encourage programs to select low-risk patients. A recommendation would be for CMS and UNOS performance algorithms to account for equity in transplantation, thus encouraging transplant centers to identify patients from a more diverse set of criteria. Wadhwani et al. suggests that transplant centers should be financially incentivized to choose candidates with limited financial resources, and this should continue through the life of the transplant.¹³²

Addressing income inequality is another area that should be of national priority. As the richest and poorest members of our society become farther and farther apart, so will increase the disparities in both access to healthcare and the health of our nation. From a productivity level, the health of our citizens is of upmost importance, which is important in the context of the ethical principle, utility. The application of justice in the distribution of healthcare to improve the health of our citizens is also advantageous since good health across all populations is essential for the functioning of society.¹⁶² We, as a society, have a moral duty to reduce health disparities since the principle, respect for all persons, is not met when there are such drastic inequalities in health. Further, the presence of health disparities perpetuates the historical injustices of disenfranchised populations.¹⁶³

Conclusions

This research was a first of its kind investigation examining a large cohort of heart failure patients and the factors that affect referral, clinic visits, and treatments. Current registries do not record patients that are never evaluated or eligible for AHF therapies, which was the population of interest in the current study. The study included a total of 24,258 patients diagnosed with heart failure at a single hospital system. Patients that were referred were more likely to be young, male, married, Black race, and have public insurance. Patients who had a clinic visit with an AHF specialist were more likely to be young, married, and non-smokers. Patients receiving advanced heart failure treatments were more likely to be White race or Hispanic ethnicity, and specifically heart transplant recipients were also younger and had private insurance. Hispanic patients and smokers had increased risk of 1-year mortality. These findings show differences in selection at each step in the care trajectory of heart failure patients as well as injustices in access to healthcare services. Future research should investigate additional factors influencing referral as well as compare multi-center data. Diversifying the healthcare workforce is an important step in reducing the health disparities in our country.

REFERENCES

- 1. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. Ventricular Assist Device. Accessed September 16, 2020. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/ventricular-assist-device
- 2. Hsich EM. Sex Differences in Advanced Heart Failure Therapies. *Circulation*. 2019;139(8):1080-1093. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.037369
- 3. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network. Learn How Organ Allocation Works. Accessed April 22, 2019. https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/learn/about-transplantation/howorgan-allocation-works/
- 4. National Organ Transplant Act, Public Law 98-507, Oct. 19, 1984, 98, Stat. 2339.
- Dew MA, DiMartini AF, Dobbels F, et al. The 2018 ISHLT/APM/AST/ICCAC/STSW recommendations for the psychosocial evaluation of adult cardiothoracic transplant candidates and candidates for long-term mechanical circulatory support. *The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2018;37(7):803-823. doi:10.1016/J.HEALUN.2018.03.005
- 6. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network. Policies. Accessed March 5, 2020. https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/media/1200/optn_policies.pdf
- Thibodeau JT, Rao MP, Gupta C, et al. Health insurance as a requirement to undergo cardiac transplantation: A national survey of transplant program practices. *Transplantation Proceedings*. 2013;45(1):360-363. doi:10.1016/j.transproceed.2012.05.074
- 8. Hutcheson SS, Phillips V, Patzer R, Smith A, Vega JD, Morris AA. Impact of insurance type on eligibility for advanced heart failure therapies and survival. *Clinical Transplantation*. 2018;32:e13328. doi:10.1111/ctr.13328
- 9. Fanaroff AC, Devore AD, Mentz RJ, Daneshmand MA, Patel CB. Patient Selection for Advanced Heart Failure Therapy Referral. *Crit Pathw Cardiol*. 2014;13(1):1-5. doi:10.1097/HPC.00000000000004
- 10. Thorvaldsen T, Lund LH. Focusing on Referral Rather than Selection for Advanced Heart Failure Therapies. *Card Fail Rev.* 2019;5(1):24-26. doi:10.15420/cfr.2018.35.1
- Einbinder LC, Schulman KA. The Effect of Race on the Referral Process for Invasive Cardiac Procedures. *Medical Care Research and Review*. 2000;57(Supplement 1):162-180.
- 12. Kelty CE, Dickinson M, Fogarty K. The effects of demographic, psychosocial, and socioeconomic characteristics on access to heart transplantation and left ventricular assist device. *With reviewers*. Published online 2022.
- 13. Spectrum Health Heart, Lung and Vascular Locations. https://www.spectrumhealth.org/patient-care/cardiovascular/heart-and-vascular-locations
- 14. Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines. *Circulation*. 2013;128(16):e240-e327. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31829e8776
- 15. Katz JN, Waters SB, Hollis IB, Chang PP. Advanced Therapies For End-Stage Heart Failure. *Current Cardiology Reports*. 2015;11:63-72.
- 16. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. Heart Transplant. Accessed November 7, 2021. https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/heart-transplant

- Hunt SA, Abraham WT, Chin MH, et al. 2009 Focused Update Incorporated Into the ACC/AHA 2005 Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Heart Failure in Adults. A Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines Developed. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009;53(15). doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.11.013
- Benjamin EJ, Muntner P, Alonso A, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2019;139(10):e56e528. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000659
- Meyer DM, Rogers JG, Edwards LB, et al. The future direction of the adult heart allocation system in the United States. *American Journal of Transplantation*. 2015;15(1):44-54. doi:10.1111/ajt.13030
- 20. Shi L, Singh DA. *Delivering Health Care in America*. 7th ed. Jones & Bartlett Learning; 2019.
- Franks P, Clancy CM, Nutting PA. Gatekeeping Revisited Protecting Patients from Overtreatment. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1992;327(6):424-429. doi:10.1056/NEJM199208063270613
- 22. Joyce DL, Conte J v., Russell SD, Joyce LD, Chang DC. Disparities in Access to Left Ventricular Assist Device Therapy. *Journal of Surgical Research*. 2009;152(1):111-117. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2008.02.065
- 23. Thorvaldsen T, Benson L, Ståhlberg M, Dahlström U, Edner M, Lund LH. Triage of patients with moderate to severe heart failure: Who should be referred to a heart failure center? *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2014;63(7):661-671. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.10.017
- Hajjaj FM, Salek MS, Basra MKA, Finlay AY. Non-clinical influences on clinical decision-making: A major challenge to evidence-based practice. *J R Soc Med*. 2010;103(5):178-187. doi:10.1258/jrsm.2010.100104
- 25. Institute of Medicine. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. National Academies Press; 2003. doi:10.17226/12875
- 26. King LP, Siminoff LA, Meyer DM, et al. Health insurance and cardiac transplantation: A call for reform. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2005;45(9):1388-1391. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2005.01.032
- 27. Blair I v, Steiner JF, Havranek EP. Unconscious (Implicit) Bias and Health Disparities: Where Do We Go from Here? Background: What We Know So Far. Vol 15.; 2011. https://implicit.harvard.edu.
- 28. Breathett K, Jones J, Lum HD, et al. Factors Related to Physician Clinical Decision-Making for African-American and Hispanic Patients: a Qualitative Meta-Synthesis. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*. 2018;5(6):1215-1229. doi:10.1007/s40615-018-0468-z
- 29. Todd KH, Deaton C, D'Adamo AP, Goe L. Ethnicity and analgesic practice. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*. 2000;35(1):11-16. doi:10.1016/S0196-0644(00)70099-0
- Waldman S v., Blumenthal JA, Babyak MA, et al. Ethnic differences in the treatment of depression in patients with ischemic heart disease. *American Heart Journal*. 2009;157(1):77-83. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2008.08.013
- 31. Bliss EB, Meyers DS, Phillips RL, Fryer GE, Dovey SM, Green LA. Variation in participation in health care settings associated with race and ethnicity. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2004;19(9):931-936. doi:10.1007/s11606-004-0008-x

- 32. Clark-Hitt R, Malat J, Burgess D, Friedemann-Sanchez G. Doctors' and nurses' explanations for racial disparities in medical treatment. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*. 2010;21(1):386-400. doi:10.1353/hpu.0.0275
- 33. O'Malley MS, Earp JAL, Hawley ST, Schell MJ, Mathews HF, Mitchell J. The Association of Race/Ethnicity, Socioeconomic Status, and Physician Recommendation for Mammography: Who Gets the Message About Breast Cancer Screening? *American Journal of Public Health*. 2001;91(1):49-54.
- 34. Roetzheim RG, Pal N, Tennant C, et al. Effects of Health Insurance and Race on Early Detection of Cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 1999;91(16):1409-1415. https://academic.oup.com/jnci/article/91/16/1409/2543802
- 35. Shi L. Type of health insurance and the quality of primary care experience. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2000;90:1848-1855.
- Ferguson JA, Weinberger M, Westmoreland GR, et al. Racial Disparity in Cardiac Decision Making Results From Patient Focus Groups. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 1998;158:1450-1453. https://jamanetwork.com/
- 37. Chapman EN, Kaatz A, Carnes M. Physicians and implicit bias: How doctors may unwittingly perpetuate health care disparities. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2013;28(11):1504-1510. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2441-1
- 38. Chapman KR, Tashkin DP, Pye DJ. Gender Bias in the Diagnosis of COPD. *CHEST*. 2001;119(6):1691-1695. doi:10.1378/CHEST.119.6.1691
- Bond M, Bowling A, McKee D, et al. Does ageism affect the management of ischaemic heart disease? *Journal of Health Services Research and Policy*. 2003;8(1):40-47. doi:10.1258/13558190360468218
- Soumerai SB, McLaughlin TJ, Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E, Thibault G, Goldman L. Adverse Outcomes of Underuse of β-Blockers in Elderly Survivors of Acute Myocardial Infarction. *JAMA*. 1997;277(2):115-121. doi:10.1001/JAMA.1997.03540260029031
- 41. Schwartz MB, Chambliss HON, Brownell KD, Blair SN, Billington C. Weight Bias among Health Professionals Specializing in Obesity. *Obesity Research*. 2003;11(9):1033-1039. doi:10.1038/oby.2003.142
- 42. Morris AA, Kransdorf EP, Coleman BL, Colvin M. Racial and ethnic disparities in outcomes after heart transplantation: A systematic review of contributing factors and future directions to close the outcomes gap. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2016;35(8):953-961. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2016.01.1231
- 43. Shim JK. *Heart-Sick:The Politics of Risk, Inequality, and Heart Disease*. New York University Press; 2014.
- 44. Hawkins NM, Jhund PS, McMurray JJV, Capewell S. Heart failure and socioeconomic status: Accumulating evidence of inequality. *European Journal of Heart Failure*. 2012;14(2):138-146. doi:10.1093/eurjhf/hfr168
- 45. Colvin M, Sweitzer NK, Albert NM, et al. Heart Failure in Non-Caucasians, Women, and Older Adults: A White Paper on Special Populations From the Heart Failure Society of America Guideline Committee. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*. 2015;21(8). doi:10.1016/j.cardfail.2015.05.013
- 46. Keisler-Starkey K, Bunch LN. *Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2020 Current Population Reports (United States Census Bureau).*; 2021.

- 47. Chetty R, Stepner M, Abraham S, et al. The association between income and life expectancy in the United States, 2001-2014. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*. 2016;315(16):1750-1766. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.4226
- 48. Bibbins-Domingo K, Pletcher MJ, Lin F, et al. Racial Differences in Incident Heart Failure among Young Adults. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2009;360(12):1179-1190. doi:10.1056/nejmoa0807265
- 49. Peuntes-Markides C. Women and access to health care. *Social Science and Medicine*. 1992;35(4):619-626.
- 50. Aaronson KD, Schwartz JS, Goin JE, Mancini DM. Sex differences in patient acceptance of cardiac transplant candidacy. *Circulation*. 1995;91(11):2753-2761. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.91.11.2753
- 51. Duffy M. Doing the dirty work: Gender, race, and reproductive labor in historical perspective. *Gender and Society*. 2007;21(3):313-336. doi:10.1177/0891243207300764
- 52. Borum ML, Lynn J, Zhong Z. The effects of patient race on outcomes in seriously ill patients in support: An overview of economic impact, medical intervention, and end-of-life decisions. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2000;48(S1):S194-S198. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2000.tb03132.x
- 53. Kampmeier R. The Tuskegee study of untreated syphilis. *Southern Medical Journal*. 1972;65(10):1247-1251. Accessed November 15, 2021. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/5074095/
- 54. Alsan M, Wanamaker M, Hardeman RR. The Tuskegee Study of Untreated Syphilis: A Case Study in Peripheral Trauma with Implications for Health Professionals. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2020;35(1):322-325. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05309-8
- 55. Kaiser Family Foundation. Kaiser Family Foundation. Health Coverage by Race and Ethnicity, 2010-2019. Published 2021. Accessed November 18, 2021. https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/issue-brief/health-coverage-by-race-and-ethnicity/
- 56. Goff DC, Sellers DE, Mcgovern PG, et al. Knowledge of Heart Attack Symptoms in a Population Survey in the United States The REACT Trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 1998;158:2329-2338. https://jamanetwork.com/
- 57. Burns RB, McCarthy EP, Freund KM, et al. Black Women Receive Less Mammography even with Similar Use of Primary Care. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1996;125(3):173-182. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-125-3-199608010-00002
- Bui QM, Allen LA, LeMond L, Brambatti M, Adler E. Psychosocial Evaluation of Candidates for Heart Transplant and Ventricular Assist Devices. 2019;12:e006058. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.119.006058
- 59. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network. OPTN Bylaws effective June 25 2021. Accessed August 20, 2021. https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/media/1201/optn_bylaws.pdf
- 60. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid. Transplant Center Process Requirements Condition of Participation: Patient and Living Donor Selection. 42 C.F.R. § 482.90.
- 61. Boyum E, Brown D, Zihni A, et al. Transplant in a patient with comorbid psychiatric illness: an ethical dilemma. *Bull Am Coll Surg*. 2014;99(11):40-44.
- 62. Dobbels F, Vanhaecke J, Dupont L, et al. Pretransplant predictors of posttransplant adherence and clinical outcome: An evidence base for pretransplant psychosocial screening. *Transplantation*. 2009;87(10):1497-1504. doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e3181a440ae

- 63. Mollberg NM, Farjah F, Howell E, Ortiz J, Backhus L, Mulligan MS. Impact of primary caregivers on long-term outcomes after lung transplantation. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2015;34(1):59-64. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2014.09.022
- 64. Tam V, Arnaoutakis GJ, George TJ, et al. Marital status improves survival after orthotopic heart transplantation. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2011;30(12):1389-1394. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2011.07.020
- 65. Ladin K, Emerson J, Berry K, et al. Excluding patients from transplant due to social support: Results from a national survey of transplant providers. *Am J Transplant*. 2019;19(1):193-203. doi:10.1111/ajt.14962
- 66. Guglin M, Zucker MJ, Borlaug BA, et al. Evaluation for Heart Transplantation and LVAD Implantation. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2020;75(12):1471-1487. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2020.01.034
- 67. World Health Organization. WHO Guiding Principles on Human Cell, Tissue and Organ Transplantation: Preamble. Published 2010. https://www.who.int/transplantation/Guiding_PrinciplesTransplantation_WHA63.22en.pd f
- 68. Modi K, Pannu AK, Modi RJ, et al. Utilization of Left Ventricular Assist Device for Congestive Heart Failure: Inputs on Demographic and Hospital Characterization From Nationwide Inpatient Sample. *Cureus*. 2021;13(7):1-7. doi:10.7759/cureus.16094
- 69. DeFilippis EM, Vaduganathan M, Machado S, Stehlik J, Mehra MR. Emerging Trends in Financing of Adult Heart Transplantation in the United States. *JACC Heart Fail*. 2019;7(1):56-62. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2018.10.001
- 70. Breathett K. One for All and All for One. *JACC: Heart Failure*. 2019;7(1):63-64. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2018.10.019
- 71. Allen JG, Weiss ES, Arnaoutakis GJ, et al. Insurance and education predict long-term survival after orthotopic heart transplantation in the United States. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2012;31(1):52-60. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2011.07.019
- 72. Wayda B, Clemons A, Givens RC, et al. Socioeconomic Disparities in Adherence and Outcomes After Heart Transplant. *Circulation: Heart Failure*. 2018;11:e004173. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.117.004173
- 73. Dubay DA, Maclennan PA, Reed RD, et al. Insurance Type and Solid Organ Transplant Outcomes: A Historical Perspective on How Medicaid Expansion Might Impact Transplant Outcomes. *Journal of the American College of Surgery*. 2016;223(4):611-620. doi:10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2016.07.004
- 74. Tumin D, Foraker RE, Smith S, Tobias JD, Hayes D. Health insurance trajectories and long-term survival after heart transplantation. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. 2016;9(5):576-584. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.116.003067
- 75. Emani S, Tumin D, Foraker RE, Hayes D, Smith SA. Impact of insurance status on heart transplant wait-list mortality for patients with left ventricular assist devices. *Clinical Transplantation*. 2017;31(2). doi:10.1111/ctr.12875
- 76. Allen JG, Weiss ES, Arnaoutakis GJ, et al. The Impact of Race on Survival After Heart Transplantation: An Analysis of More Than 20,000 Patients. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 2010;89(6):1956-1964. doi:10.1016/j.athoracsur.2010.02.093
- 77. Pagani FD. Insurance Coverage and Heart Transplantation Outcomes. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2016;9:501-503. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.116.003209

- 78. Tumin D, Horan J, Shrider EA, et al. County socioeconomic characteristics and heart transplant outcomes in the United States. *American Heart Journal*. 2017;190:104-112. doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2017.05.013
- 79. Clerkin KJ, Garan AR, Wayda B, et al. Impact of Socioeconomic Status on Patients Supported with a Left Ventricular Assist Device. *Circulation: Heart Failure*. 2016;9(10). doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003215
- 80. Wu JR, Lennie TA, Moser DK. A prospective, observational study to explore health disparities in patients with heart failure—ethnicity and financial status. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*. 2017;16(1):70-78. doi:10.1177/1474515116641296
- Singh G, Azuine R, Siahpush M, Williams S. Widening Socioeconomic and Racial Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in the United States, 1969-2013. *International Journal of MCH and AIDS (IJMA)*. 2015;3(2):106-118. doi:10.21106/ijma.44
- 82. Meneton P, Kesse E, Méjean C, Fezeu L, Galan P. Unemployment is associated with high cardiovascular event rate and increased all cause mortality in middle aged socially privileged individuals. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*. 2015;88(6):707-716. doi:10.1007/s00420-014-0997-7
- Schultz WM, Kelli HM, Lisko JC, et al. Socioeconomic Status and Cardiovascular Outcomes. *Circulation*. 2018;137(20):2166-2178. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.029652
- 84. Veatch RM, Ross LF. *Transplantation Ethics, Second Edition*. Georgetown University Press; 2015.
- 85. Majumder P, Sarkar S. A Review of the Prevalence of Illicit Substance Use in Solid-Organ Transplant Candidates and the Effects of Illicit Substance Use on Solid-Organ Transplant Treatment Outcomes. *Cureus*. 2020;12(7). doi:10.7759/cureus.8986
- Lundgren S, Lowes BD, Zolty R, et al. Do Psychosocial Factors Have Any Impact on Outcomes After Left Ventricular Assist Device Implantation? *ASAIO Journal*. 2018;64:e43-e47. doi:10.1097/MAT.00000000000736
- 87. Defilippis EM, Breathett K, Donald EM, et al. Psychosocial Risk and Its Association With Outcomes in Continuous-Flow Left Ventricular Assist Device Patients. *Circulation: Heart Failure*. 2020;13(9):e006910. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.120.006910
- 88. DeFilippis EM, Givertz MM. Marijuana use and candidacy for heart transplantation. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2019;38(6):589-592. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2019.03.011
- 89. Allen LA, Ambardekar A v. Hashing It Out Over Cannabis: Moving Towards a Standard Guideline on Substance Use for Cardiac Transplantation Eligibility that Includes Marijuana. *Circulation: Heart Failure*. 2016;9(7). doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003330
- 90. Neyer J, Uberoi A, Hamilton M, Kobashigawa JA. Marijuana and listing for heart transplant. *Circulation: Heart Failure*. 2016;9(7). doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002851
- 91. Levi ME, Montague BT, Thurstone C, Kumar D, Huprikar SS, Kotton CN. Marijuana use in transplantation: A call for clarity. *Clinical Transplantation*. 2019;33(2). doi:10.1111/ctr.13456

- 92. Rai HS, Winder GS. Marijuana Use and Organ Transplantation: a Review and Implications for Clinical Practice. *Current Psychiatry Reports*. 2017;19(11):1-11. doi:10.1007/s11920-017-0843-1
- 93. Spaderna H, Zittermann A, Reichenspurner H, Ziegler C, Smits J, Weidner G. Role of depression and social isolation at time of waitlisting for survival 8 years after heart transplantation. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2017;6(12):1-11. doi:10.1161/JAHA.117.007016
- 94. Owen JE, Bonds CL, Wellisch DK. Psychiatric evaluations of heart transplant candidates: Predicting post-transplant hospitalizations, rejection episodes, and survival. *Psychosomatics*. 2006;47(3):213-222. doi:10.1176/appi.psy.47.3.213
- 95. Dew MA, Rosenberger EM, Myaskovsky L, et al. Depression and anxiety as risk factors for morbidity and mortality after organ transplantation: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Transplantation*. 2015;100(5):988-1003. doi:10.1097/TP.0000000000000001.Depression
- 96. Delibasic M, Mohamedali B, Dobrilovic N, Raman J. Pre-transplant depression as a predictor of adherence and morbidities after orthotopic heart transplantation. *Journal of Cardiothoracic Surgery*. 2017;12(1):1-7. doi:10.1186/s13019-017-0626-0
- 97. Okwuosa I, Pumphrey D, Puthumana J, Brown RM, Cotts W. Impact of identification and treatment of depression in heart transplant patients. *Cardiovascular Psychiatry and Neurology*. 2014;2014. doi:10.1155/2014/747293
- 98. Evans LD, Stock EM, Zeber JE, et al. Posttransplantation outcomes in veterans with serious mental illness. *Transplantation*. 2015;99(8):e57-e65. doi:10.1097/TP.00000000000616
- 99. Cahn-Fuller KL, Parent B. Transplant eligibility for patients with affective and psychotic disorders: a review of practices and a call for justice. *BMC Medical Ethics*. 2017;18(72). doi:10.1186/s12910-017-0235-4
- 100. Zimbrean P, Emre S. Patients with psychotic disorders in solid-organ transplant. *Prog Transplant*. 2015;25(4):289-296. doi:10.7182/pit2015296
- 101. le Melle SM, Entelis C. Heart transplant in a young man with schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*. 2005;162(3):453-457. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.453
- 102. DiMartini A, Twillman R. Organ transplantation and paranoid schizophrenia. *Psychosomatics*. 1994;35(2):159-161. doi:10.1016/S0033-3182(94)71790-4
- 103. Freedland KE, Carney RM, Rich MW, Steinmeyer BC, Rubin EH. Cognitive Behavior Therapy for Depression and Self-Care in Heart Failure Patients: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2015;175(11):1773-1782. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.5220.Cognitive
- 104. Bairey Merz CN, Shaw LJ, Reis SE, et al. Insights from the NHLBI-sponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) study. Part II: Gender differences in presentation, diagnosis, and outcome with regard to gender-based pathophysiology of atherosclerosis and macrovascular and microvascular coronary disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47(3 SUPPL.):S21-S29. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2004.12.084
- 105. Shaw LJ, Bairey Merz CN, Pepine CJ, et al. Insights from the NHLBI-sponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) study. Part I: Gender differences in traditional and novel risk factors, symptom evaluation, and gender-optimized diagnostic strategies. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47(3 SUPPL.):S4-S20. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2005.01.072
- 106. O'Meara EO, Clayton T, Mcentegart MB, et al. Sex Differences in Clinical Characteristics and Prognosis in a Broad Spectrum of Patients With Heart Failure Results of the

Candesartan in Heart failure : Assessment of Reduction in Mortality and morbidity (CHARM) Program. *Circulation*. 2007;115:3111-3120. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.673442

- 107. Parashar S, Katz R, Smith NL, et al. Race, gender, and mortalit yin adults ≥65 years of age with incident heart failure (from the Cardiovascular Health Study). Am J Cardiol. 2009;103:1120-1127. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2008.12.043.Race
- 108. Rose EA, Gelijns AC, Moskowitz AJ, et al. Long-Term Use of a Left Ventricular Assist Device for End-Stage Heart Failure. New England Journal of Medicine. 2001;345(20):1435-1443. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa012175
- 109. Bogaev RC. Gender Disparities Across the Spectrum of Advanced Cardiac Therapies: Real or Imagined ? *Current Cardiology Reports*. 2016;108. doi:10.1007/s11886-016-0783-0
- 110. DeFilippis EM, Truby LK, Garan AR, et al. Sex-Related Differences in Use and Outcomes of Left Ventricular Assist Devices as Bridge to Transplantation. JACC: Heart Failure. 2019;7(3):250-257. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2019.01.008
- 111. Birks EJ, Mcgee Jr E, Aaronson KD, et al. An examination of survival by sex and race in the HeartWare Ventricular Assist Device for the Treatment of Advanced Heart Failure (ADVANCE) Bridge to Transplant (BTT) and continued access protocol trials. *Journal* of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2015;34(6):815-824. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2014.12.011
- 112. Hsich EM, Naftel DC, Myers SL, et al. Should Women Get Left Ventricular Assist Device Support?: Findings from INTERMACS. *Circ Heart Fail*. 2012;5(2):234-240. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.111.963272.Should
- 113. Stehlik J, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya AY, et al. The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation : 29th Official Adult Heart Transplant Report — 2012. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2021;31(10):1052-1064. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2012.08.002
- 114. Office of Management and Budget. Revisions to the Standards for the Classification of Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity. Published 1997. Accessed October 10, 2021. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/omb/fedreg 1997standards
- 115. Sharma A, Colvin-Adams M, Yancy CW. Heart failure in African Americans: Disparities can be overcome. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*. 2014;81(5):301-311. doi:10.3949/ccjm.81a.13045
- 116. Pamboukian S v., Costanzo MR, Meyer P, Bartlett L, Mcleod M, Heroux A. Influence of race in heart failure and cardiac transplantation: Mortality differences are eliminated by specialized, comprehensive care. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*. 2003;9(2):80-86. doi:10.1054/jcaf.2003.11
- 117. Vivo RP, Krim SR, Cevik C, Witteles RM. Heart Failure in Hispanics. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009;53(14):1167-1175. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.12.037
- 118. Krogstad JM, Stepler R, Lopez MH. English proficiency on the rise among Latinos. Pew Research Center. Published 2015. Accessed October 11, 2021. https://www.pewresearch.org/hispanic/2015/05/12/english-proficiency-on-the-rise-amonglatinos/#fn-22303-1
- 119. Siminoff LA, Arnold R. Increasing Organ Donation in the African-American Community: Altruism in the Face of an Untrustworthy System. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1999;130(7):607-609.

- 120. Mehra MR, Canter CE, Hannan MM, et al. The 2016 International Society for Heart Lung Transplantation listing criteria for heart transplantation: A 10-year update. *The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2016;35(1):1-23. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2015.10.023
- 121. Rodriguez F, Wang Y, Johnson CE, Foody JM. National patterns of heart failure hospitalizations and mortality by sex and age. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*. 2013;19(8):542-549. doi:10.1016/j.cardfail.2013.05.016
- 122. Sandner SE, Zimpfer D, Zrunek P, et al. Age and Outcome After Continuous-Flow Left Ventricular Assist Device Implantation as Bridge to Transplantation. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2009;28(4):367-372. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2009.01.008
- 123. Thiaw I, Mack DL. Atlantic slavery and the making of the modern world: Experiences, representations, and legacies. *Current Anthropology*. 2020;61(S22):S145-S158. doi:10.1086/709830
- 124. Civil Rights Act of 1964 § 9, 42 U.S.C. 2000d-1.
- 125. Semega J, Kollar M, Shrider EA, Creamer JF. Income and Poverty in the United States: 2019. Published 2020. Accessed April 4, 2022. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2020/demo/p60-270.pdf
- 126. Adelman L. Unnatural Causes. California Newsreel in association with Vital Pictures Inc; 2008.
- 127. Vandivier D. What is The Great Gatsby Curve? Published 2013. Accessed April 4, 2022. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2013/06/11/what-great-gatsby-curve
- 128. United Network for Organ Sharing. How we develop policy. Accessed August 8, 2020. https://unos.org/policy/how-we-develop-policy/
- 129. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network. Ethical Principles in the Allocation of Human Organs. Accessed April 22, 2019. https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/resources/ethics/ethical-principles-in-the-allocation-ofhuman-organs/
- 130. John Rawls. A Theory of Justice. The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press; 1971.
- 131. Michael Sandel. Justice. Penguin Books; 2010.
- 132. Wadhwani SI, Lai JC, Gottlieb LM. Medical Need, Financial Resources, and Transplant Accessibility. *JAMA*. Published online March 31, 2022. doi:10.1001/JAMA.2022.5283
- 133. Olbrisch ME, Levenson JL. Psychosocial evaluation of heart transplant candidates: an international survey of process, criteria, and outcomes. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 1991;10(6):948-955.
- 134. Levenson JL, Ellen Olbrisch M. Psychosocial Evaluation of Organ Transplant Candidates. *Psychosomatics: Journal of Consultation and Liaison Psychiatry*. 1993;34(4):314-323.
- 135. Epic Systems Corporation. Epic Hyperspace. Verona, Wisconsin. Published online 2021.
- 136. Office for Human Research Protections. Attachment D: FAQ's Terms and Recommendations on Informed Consent. Published 2011. Accessed April 9, 2022. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/sachrp-committee/recommendations/2011-october-13-letterattachment-d/index.html
- 137. IBM Corp. Released 2021. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 28. Armonk, NY.
- 138. Thabane L, Mbuagbaw L, Zhang S, et al. A tutorial on sensitivity analyses in clinical trials: The what, why, when and how. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 2013;13(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-92
- 139. Mehra MR, Kobashigawa J, Starling R, et al. Listing Criteria for Heart Transplantation: International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Guidelines for the Care of

Cardiac Transplant Candidates-2006. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2006;25(9):1024-1042. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2006.06.008

- 140. Stehlik J, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya AY, et al. The registry of the international society for heart and lung transplantation: 29th official adult heart transplant report - 2012. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2012;31(10):1052-1064. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2012.08.002
- 141. Adamson RM, Stahovich M, Chillcott S, et al. Clinical strategies and outcomes in advanced heart failure patients older than 70 years of age receiving the heartmate II left ventricular assist device: A community hospital experience. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;57(25):2487-2495. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.01.043
- Schulman KA, Berlin jesse A, Harless W, et al. The effect of race and sex on physicians' recommendations for cardiac catheterization. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1999;340:618-626.
- 143. van Ryn M, Burgess DJ, Dovidio JF, et al. THE IMPACT OF RACISM ON CLINICIAN COGNITION, BEHAVIOR, AND CLINICAL DECISION MAKING. 2011;8(1):199-218. doi:10.1017/S1742058X11000191
- 144. Saha S, Beach MC. Impact of Physician Race on Patient Decision-Making and Ratings of Physicians: a Randomized Experiment Using Video Vignettes. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35(4):1084-1091. doi:10.1007/s11606-020-05646-z
- 145. Hadley J. Insurance Coverage, Medical Care Use, and Short-Term Health Changes Following an Unintentional Injury or the Onset of a Chronic Condition. Vol 297.; 2007. www.jama.com
- 146. Woolhandler S, Himmelstein DU. The relationship of health insurance and mortality: Is lack of insurance deadly? *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2017;167(6):424-431. doi:10.7326/M17-1403
- 147. Pandey KR, Yang F, Cagney KA, Smieliauskas F, Meltzer DO, Ruhnke GW. The impact of marital status on health care utilization among Medicare beneficiaries. *Medicine*. 2019;98(12):e14871. doi:10.1097/MD.000000000014871
- 148. Kao YH, Lin WT, Chen WH, Wu SC, Tseng TS. Continuity of Outpatient Care and Avoidable Hospitalization: A Systematic Review. Vol 25.; 2019. www.ajmc.com
- 149. Espinosa J, Evans WN. Heightened mortality after the death of a spouse: Marriage protection or marriage selection? *Journal of Health Economics*. 2008;27(5):1326-1342. doi:10.1016/j.jhealeco.2008.04.001
- 150. Robards J, Evandrou M, Falkingham J, Vlachantoni A. Marital status, health and mortality. *Maturitas*. 2012;73(4):295. doi:10.1016/J.MATURITAS.2012.08.007
- 151. Dunlay S, Roger V, Weston S, Bangerter L, Killian J, Griffin J. Patient and Spousal Health and Outcomes in Heart Failure. *Circulation: Heart Failure*. 2018;10(10):1-20. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.117.004088.Patient
- 152. Kahende JW, Adhikari B, Maurice E, Rock V, Malarcher A. Disparities in Health Care Utilization by Smoking Status – NHANES 1999–2004. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2009;6(3):1095. doi:10.3390/IJERPH6031095
- 153. Feldman D, Pamboukian S v., Teuteberg JJ, et al. The 2013 International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Guidelines for mechanical circulatory support: Executive summary. *Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*. 2013;32(2):157-187. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2012.09.013

- 154. Vivo RP, Krim SR, Cevik C, Witteles RM. Heart Failure in Hispanics. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2009;53(14):1167-1175. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.12.037
- 155. Gallo LC, Penedo FJ, Espinosa De Los Monteros K, Arguelles W. Resiliency in the face of disadvantage: Do hispanic cultural characteristics protect health outcomes? *Journal of Personality*. 2009;77(6):1707-1746. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00598.x
- 156. Breathett K, Liu WG, Allen LA, et al. African Americans Are Less Likely to Receive Care by a Cardiologist During an Intensive Care Unit Admission for Heart Failure. *JACC: Heart Failure*. 2018;6(5):413-420. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2018.02.015
- 157. Breathett K, Spatz ES, Kramer DB, et al. The Groundwater of Racial and Ethnic Disparities Research: A Statement from Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes. 2021;14:135-139. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.121.007868/FORMAT/EPUB
- 158. National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health (US) Office on Smoking and Health. The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress: A report of the Surgeon General. *Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US)*. Published online 2014:1-36. doi:NBK179276
- 159. Evans RS, Kfoury AG, Horne BD, et al. Clinical Decision Support to Efficiently Identify Patients Eligible for Advanced Heart Failure Therapies. *Journal of Cardiac Failure*. 2017;23(10):719-726. doi:10.1016/j.cardfail.2017.08.449
- 160. Mayberry RM, Nicewander DA, Qin H, Ballard DJ. Improving quality and reducing inequities: a challenge in achieving best care. *Proc (Bayl Univ Med Cent)*. 2006;19(2):103-118. doi:10.1080/08998280.2006.11928138
- 161. Organ Transplant Insurance Coverage. Accessed April 9, 2022. https://www.medicare.gov/coverage/organ-transplants
- 162. Sociology: Understanding and Changing the Social World. Howard Community College; Creative Commons License CC BY-NC-SA. Published 2010. Accessed April 9, 2022. https://pressbooks.howardcc.edu/soci101/front-matter/publisher-information/
- 163. Jones CM. The Moral Problem of Health Disparities. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2010;100(Suppl 1):S47. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.171181